Improving Access To Oral Health Care

For Vulnerable People Living In Canada



Canadian Academy of Health Sciences Académie canadienne des sciences de la <u>santé</u>

Improving Access To Oral Health Care

For Vulnerable People Living In Canada



Canadian Academy of Health Sciences Académie canadienne des sciences de la santé

The Canadian Academy of Health Sciences

180 Elgin Street, Suite 1403, Ottawa, ON Canada K2P 2K3

Notice: The project that is the subject of this report was undertaken with the approval of the Board of the Canadian Academy of Health Sciences. The members of the expert panel responsible for the report were selected for their special competences and with regard for appropriate balance. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the authors, the Expert Panel on Oral Health, and do not necessarily represent the views of their organizations of affiliation or employment.

Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication

Improving access to oral health care for vulnerable people living in Canada.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

Issued in print and electronic formats.

Text in English and French on inverted pages.

ISBN 978-0-9877815-2-9 (pbk.).--ISBN 978-0-9877815-3-6 (pdf)

1. Poor--Dental care--Canada. 2. People with social disabilities--Dental care--Canada. 3. Health services accessibility--Canada.

I. Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, issuing body

II. Title: Améliorer l'accès aux soins de santé bucco-dentaire pour les personnes vulnérables vivant au Canada.

RK52.4.C3I46 2014 362.19'760086942071 C2014-900234-3E C2014-900235-1

Issued also in French under title: Améliorer l'accès aux soins de santé bucco-dentaire pour les personnes vulnérables vivant au Canada

Includes bibliographical references and index. Excludes appendices which may be accessed on the CAHS website at <u>www.cahs-acss.ca</u>

Electronic monograph in PDF format. Issued also in print format.

This report should be cited as: Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, 2014. Improving access to oral health care for vulnerable people living in Canada.

Disclaimer: The internet data and information referenced in this report were correct, to the best of the Canadian Academy of Health Science's knowledge, at the time of publication. Due to the dynamic nature of the internet, resources that are free and publicly available may subsequently require a fee or restrict access, and the location of items may change as menus and webpages are reorganized.

© 2014 Canadian Academy of Health Sciences

Printed in Ottawa, Canada

The Canadian Academy of Health Sciences

The Canadian Academy of Health Sciences (CAHS) provides scientific advice for a healthy Canada. It is a nonprofit charitable organization, initiated in 2004 to work in partnership with the Royal Society of Canada and the Canadian Academy of Engineering. Collectively, these three bodies comprise the founding three-member Council of Canadian Academies. The Canadian Institute of Academic Medicine, which played a leadership role in developing the Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, ensured the inclusion of the broad range of other health science disciplines.

CAHS is modelled on the Institute of Medicine in the United States and provides timely, informed, and unbiased assessments of urgent issues affecting the health of Canadians. The process of CAHS's work is designed to assure appropriate expertise, the integration of the best science, and the avoidance of bias and conflict of interest; the latter is a frequent dynamic that confounds solutions to difficult problems in the health sector. The assessments conducted by CAHS provide an objective weighing of the available scientific evidence at arm's length from political considerations and with a focus on the public interest.

Assessment sponsors have input into framing the study question; however, they cannot influence the outcomes of an assessment or the contents of a report. Each CAHS assessment is prepared by an expert panel appointed by CAHS and undergoes extensive evaluation by external reviewers who are anonymous to the panel and whose names are revealed only once the study is released. Final approval for release and publication of a CAHS report rests only with the Board of the CAHS.

CAHS is composed of elected Fellows from diverse disciplines both within and external to the health sector. It is both an honorific membership organization and a policy research organization. The Fellows are elected to the Academy by a rigorous peer-review process that recognizes demonstrated leadership, creativity, distinctive competencies, and a commitment to advance academic health science.

www.cahs-acss.ca

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FIGU	RES A	ND TAE	BLES	vi		
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS1						
	A Vis	ion for	Oral Health Care in Canada	4		
	The Core Problems Identified in this Report4					
	Recommendations to Address the Core Problems and Achieve the Vision4					
1	BACKGROUND TO THIS REPORT					
	1.1	1.1 The Charge to the Panel				
	1.2	The Aiı	The Aim of the Report			
	1.3 Methods Used		ds Used	9		
		1.3.1	Framework for Describing and Understanding the Issues	9		
		1.3.2	The Literature Review Performed for this Report	10		
		1.3.3	Analyses of the Canadian Health Measures Survey	10		
2	DEFII	NING TH	HE PROBLEM	12		
	2.1	Inequa	equalities in Oral Health in Canada12			
	2.2	Inequalities in Oral Health Care in Canada16				
	2.3	The Relationship between Inequalities in Oral Health and Access to Oral Health Care in Canada20				
3	THE CURRENT MODEL OF FINANCING AND DELIVERY OF DENTAL CARE IN CANADA23					
	3.1 The Historical Development of Canadian Oral Health Care Services					
	3.2	Canadi	an Oral Health Care Systems as They Exist Now	25		
		3.2.1	The Public/Private Divide in Oral Healthcare Provision	27		
		3.2.2	The Federal/Provincial/Municipal Divide in Oral Health Care Provision .	30		
	3.3	Canada	a and International Comparisons	31		
	3.4 The P		oblems with the Current Provision of Oral Health Care in Canada	33		
		3.4.1	Exclusion of, and Challenges with, Specific Populations	35		
		3.4.2	Lack of Oral Health Care Standards Across the Country	36		
		3.4.3	Dental Treatments Provided not Supported by Scientific Evidence	37		
		3.4.4	Non-diversified Oral Health Care Settings and Workforce	39		
		3.4.5	Not Taxing Dental Benefits	40		
		3.4.6	The Emerging Context	41		
		3.4.7	Variations in Use of Resources/Standards/Principles of Oral Health Care Across Canada	e 45		

4	THE	THE DETERMINANTS OF ORAL HEALTH46		
5 THE IMPACTS OF ORAL HEALTH AND DISEASE AND ORAL HEALTH CARE			.48	
	5.1	The Impacts of Poor Oral Health	.48	
	5.2	The Benefits of Good Oral Health Care	.49	
	5.3	Oral Health and General Health	.49	
6	WHAT CAN BE DONE TO REDUCE INEQUALITIES IN ORAL HEALTH AND ORAL HEALTH CARE IN CANADA?			
	6.1	Prevention in Children and Potential Impacts for Adults	.52	
	6.2	The Residential or Long-term Care Setting	.54	
	6.3	Poverty and Public Options	.55	
	6.4	Administration and Payment in Public Programs	.56	
	6.5	Making Oral Health Care Universal	.56	
	6.6	Allocation of Oral Health Care Services	.57	
	6.7	Diversifying the Oral Health Care Workforce	.58	
	6.8	The Role of Dental Education	.60	
7	VISION, CORE PROBLEMS AND RECOMMENDATIONS			
	7.1	A Vision for Oral Health Care in Canada	.62	
	7.2	The Core Problems Identified in this Report	.62	
	7.3	Recommendations to Address the Core Problems and Achieve the Vision	63	
8	REFE	RENCES	.67	

In addition to the main body of the report the following appendices are available on the Canadian Academy of Health Sciences website (<u>http://www.cahs-acss.ca/reports/</u>):

- **APPENDICES INTRODUCTION**
- APPENDIX A: Children and Adolescents
- APPENDIX B: People Living and Working in Poverty
- APPENDIX C: Aboriginal Groups
- APPENDIX D: Elderly People
- APPENDIX E: Other Vulnerable Groups
- APPENDIX F: The Dental Disciplines Act of Saskatchewan (1997)
- APPENDIX G: Table of evidence in literature and reports cited in the main report

FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 2.1 Oral health indicators by education level in adults12
Figure 2.2 Prevalence of periodontal (gum) disease in 20–59 year old adults by immigration and education status
Figure 2.3 Percentage of children and adolescents experiencing dental pain during the past year by ownership of residence in which they live
Figure 2.4 Percentage of children and adolescents experiencing dental pain during the past year by household income level
Figure 2.5 Mean number of decayed teeth in children and adolescents by highest level of parental education
Figure 2.6 Concentration indices for selected oral health measures among adults*15
Table 2.1. Concentration indices for general and oral health indicators among adults16
Figure 2.7 Indicators of dental care access by family income levels in Canada17
Figure 2.8 Insurance and access to oral health care among children & adolescents
Figure 2.9 Insurance and access to oral health care among adults
Figure 2.10 Insurance and access to oral health care among the elderly18
Figure 2.11 Prevalence of no dental insurance by age group and family income level19
Figure 2.12 Indicators of access to dental care and household income among elderly people living in Canada20
Figure 2.13 Prevalence of oral pain and having difficulty eating food according to dental avoidance because of the cost
Figure 2.14 Pattern of dental service use and the mean number of decayed teeth and filled teeth in adults
Figure 2.15 Dental status and avoidance of dental visits due to cost among elderly people living in Canada22
Figure 3.1 Employer contributions to employee benefit plans, select industries, 1968 and 1976 (dollars per employee)24
Figure 3.2 Public per capita oral health care expenditures in Canada, 1960–2005 (2005 constant dollars)25
Table 3.1. Provincial- and territorial-level mandated public oral health care programming,and municipal and non-governmental services, Canada, 2007
Table 3.2 Total health and oral health care expenditures, by source of finance, Canada, 2008(\$000,000s; excluding federal government expenses)27
Table 3.3 Dental public health expenditures in Canada, 2007
Table 3.4 Federal public oral health care expenditures in Canada, 2007

Table 3.5 Comparing the distribution of dental public health care resources, 1986 and 2005(M is \$000,000)
Table 3.6 Public expenditures for oral health care, by governmental focus, select provinces,1980 and 2005 (\$000s)30
Figure 3.3 Probability of a dental visit in past year by income group of 16 OECD countries (2009/or nearest year)
Figure 3.4 Public share of per capita dental care expenditure in OECD countries during 2001– 08
Table 3.7 Proportion of adults needing care but not consulting physician or dentist due tocost (2001–02)
Figure 3.5 Consultation with dentist or family physician by level of health (Canadian Community Health Survey, 2010)
Figure 3.6 Adults living in Canada with public or private dental insurance by income
Table 3.8 Ontario's Children in Need of Treatment (0–13 years) and Federal Non-Insured Health Benefits (all ages) programs, number of restorations and expenditures (\$000) on amalgam and composite resin restorations, fiscal years 1999/2000 and 2009/2010
Figure 3.7 Concentration Index for decayed teeth in the Canadian population
Figure 3.8 Mean number of yearly visits to the dentist42
Figure 3.9 Perceived cost-barriers to dental care reported by Canadians according to income level, 1996–2009
Figure 3.10 Perceived cost-barriers to dental care reported by middle-income Canadians with and without dental insurance, 1996–200943
Figure 3.11 Prevalence of dental insurance among Canadians according to income level, 1996–2009
Figure 4.1 Integrating the common risk factor approach into a social determinants framework
Table 4.1 Decomposition of factors explaining the concentration of oral health outcomes inadults in poverty living in Canada
Figure 6.1 Priority populations by number of countries identifying them
Figure 6.2 Service themes by numbers of countries in which they were identified (in most

This report was produced through the collaborative efforts of a Canadian Academy of Health Sciences panel consisting of the following people and supported through the following sponsors:

Chair:

- Dr. P. J. Allison, BDS, FDS RCS (Eng), MSc, PhD
 - Professor and Dean, Faculty of Dentistry, McGill University

Panelists:

- Dr. T. Bailey, BA, LLB
 - Health Senior Team Lead, Barrister and Solicitor, Alberta Health Legal and Legislative Services, Justice and Attorney General
- Dr. L. Beattie, MD, FRCPC
 - Professor Emeritus, Division of Geriatric Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of British Columbia
- Dr. S. Birch, D. Phil.
 - Professor of Health Economics, Centre for Health Economics and Policy Analysis, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario
- Dr. L. Dempster, BScD, MSc, PhD
 - Assistant Professor, Disciplines of Preventive Dentistry and Dental Public Health, Faculty of Dentistry, Kamienski Professorship in Dental Education Research, University of Toronto
- Dr. N. Edwards, BScN, MSc, PhD
 - Scientific Director, Institute of Population and Public Health, Canadian Institutes of Health Research
- Dr. B. Graham, DDS
 - Dean, University of Illinois at Chicago, College of Dentistry, USA
- Ms. J. Gray, DT, DH
 - Dental Program Technical Consultant for The Saskatchewan Ministry of Health, Mamawetan Churchill River Health Region, Keewatin Yatthé Regional Health Authority and Athabasca Health Authority
- Dr. D. Legault, DMD, MBA
 - Conseillère principale, Centre d'excellence pour la santé buccodentaire et le vieillissement, Université Laval

- Dr. N. E. MacDonald, MD, MSc, FRCPC, FCAHS
 - Professor of Pediatrics, Dalhousie University, Division Pediatric Infectious Diseases, IWK Health Center, Halifax, Nova Scotia
- Dr. M. McNally, MSc, DDS, MA
 - Associate Professor, Faculties of Dentistry and Medicine, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada
- Dr. R. Palmer BSc, Cert Ed., PhD
 - LEAD Consulting Ltd., Edmonton, Alberta
- Dr. C. Quinonez, DMD, MSc, PhD, FRCD(C)
 - Assistant Professor and Program Director, Dental Public Health Specialty Training Program, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Toronto
- Dr. V. Ravaghi, BDS, PhD
 - Postdoctoral Fellow, Faculty of Dentistry, McGill University
- Dr. J. Steele, CBE, BDS, PhD, FDS RCPS, FDS Rest dent,
 - Chair of Oral Health Services Research, School of Dental Sciences and Centre for Oral Health Research, Newcastle University, UK

Coordination:

- Dr. F. Power MSc, DDS
 - Assistant Professor, Faculty of Dentistry, McGill University

External reviewers:

- Dr. P. Cooney, Chief Dental Officer, Public Health Agency of Canada
- Mr. C. Forget, Member, McGill University Health Centre, Board of Directors
- Professor E. Treasure, Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Cardiff University, United Kingdom

Sponsorship:

- Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry
- Canadian Association of Dental Research
- Department of Dentistry and Dental Hygiene, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta
- Dental Program, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Western Ontario
- Faculté de médecine dentaire, Université de Montreal
- Faculty of Dentistry, Dalhousie University
- Faculty of Dentistry, McGill University

- Faculty of Dentistry, University of British Columbia
- Faculty of Dentistry, University of Toronto
- Henry Schein Ltd.
- Institute of Musculoskeletal Health and Arthritis, Canadian Institutes of Health Research
- Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation
- Ordre des dentists du Québec
- Réseau de recherche en santé buccodentaire et osseuse
- Sunstar GUM
- 3M ESPE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This report concludes a three-year evaluation by a multi-disciplinary Canadian Academy of Health Sciences (CAHS) panel (from here on referred to as "the Panel") into the issue of access to oral health care among vulnerable groups in Canada. It presents an innovative analysis of data from the recent Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS), which for the first time in approximately 40 years has provided nationally representative, clinical information on the oral health status of Canadians. In addition, targeted literature reviews were completed, with all resulting information reviewed, discussed, and integrated into the report by the Panel.

The following major issues have emerged from the CAHS investigation in relation to oral health and oral health care in Canada:

- Many low income, and even middle income, Canadians suffer from pain, discomfort, disability, and loss of opportunity because of poor oral health.
- Approximately six million Canadians avoid visiting the dentist every year because of the cost.
- There are significant income-related inequalities in oral health and inequity in access to oral health care.
- Those with the highest levels of oral health problems are also those with the greatest difficulty accessing oral health care.
- Income-related inequalities in oral health are greater than income-related inequalities in general health indicators.
- Income-related inequalities in oral health are greater in women than men.
- Inequalities in access to dental care are contributing to inequalities in oral health.
- Oral health is part of general health, with the same social, economic, and behavioural determinants, and with direct links between poor oral and poor general health.
- The vast majority of dental care is provided in the private sector, with only approximately six per cent of expenditure on dental care in the public sector.
- Private sector dentistry is providing good quality oral health care for a majority of people living in Canada, but it is not a good model of health care provision for the vulnerable groups who suffer the highest levels of oral health problems.
- There is no consensus on standards of oral health care provision among federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal governments in Canada. The small proportion of publically-funded oral health care services provided across the country varies enormously between jurisdictions.

- There is no consensus among federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal governments across Canada on the use of a range of dental and other health care professionals that might improve access to oral health care services, particularly for groups suffering the greatest burden of oral diseases.
- In Canada, tax legislation helps reduce the financial burden of dental care for those with private dental insurance. Those without such insurance do not have this benefit, yet these are the groups with the highest levels of disease and the greatest difficulty accessing dental care.

In summary, analysis of the CHMS data illustrates major inequalities in oral health and access to oral health care across social groups in Canada. *Compared to the rest of the population, vulnerable groups in Canada are i) less likely to have dental insurance; ii) more likely to avoid the dentist due to cost; iii) more likely to consult dentists only in emergencies; iv) more likely to have untreated dental decay, gum diseases, missing teeth, and dental pain; and v) more likely to avoid eating healthy foods such as fruits and vegetables due to oral health problems.* The CAHS investigation also found that the differences in ability to access and use oral health care makes a major contribution to inequalities in oral health status. In a wealthy country with explicit policy goals of reasonable access to health care as part of the *Canada Health Act*, these inequalities and the resulting inequity should be a matter of national concern.

This situation goes against Canadian principles of the Canada Health Act, which is "to protect, promote and restore the physical and mental well-being of residents of Canada and to facilitate reasonable access to health services without financial or other barriers." Some agreed upon standard of preventive and restorative oral health care should be provided for people in Canada who need it, irrespective of their physical or geographical ability to access services, or their capacity to pay. There are important challenges in being able to utilize oral health care services, namely: **affordability** (Do the provider's charges relate to the client's ability to pay for services?); **availability** (Does the provider have the requisite resources, such as personnel and technology, to meet the needs of the client?); **accessibility** (How easily can the client physically reach the provider's location?); **accommodation** (Is the provider's operation organized in ways that meet the constraints and needs of the client?); and **acceptability** (Is the client comfortable with the characteristics of the provider, and vice versa?).

Oral health care in Canada is overwhelmingly privately financed and delivered. Payment is predominantly made through employment-based or individually purchased insurance or directly "out-of-pocket" by users. Canada contributes one of the lowest proportions of public funds among Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries. For example, Canada's public share of expenditure on dental care is approximately six per cent, compared to 7.9 per cent in the U.S. (another country with a low public share) and 79 per cent in Finland (a country with among the highest public contributions to the cost of dental care).

While this system of private finance and private provision may provide access to good quality care for many in Canada, the evidence is that this system also creates substantial barriers to care for many others. These other people are Canada's most vulnerable groups, including:

- those with low incomes;
- young children living in low income families;
- young adults and others working without dental insurance;
- elderly people living in institutions or with low incomes;
- aboriginal peoples;
- refugees and immigrants;
- those with disabilities; and
- people living in rural and remote regions.

Furthermore, there is increasing evidence that with the current economically difficult times, lower middle income families in Canada are also struggling to access affordable oral health care.

Although the affordability of oral health care is certainly an important barrier, it is not the only one. The CAHS investigation found evidence for other problems, including:

- The lack of integration of dental professionals into public institutions delivering other health and social services, with a lack of options and versatility in the workforce;
- The organization of dental and other health care professions, including their scope of practice, does not facilitate equitable access to oral health care; and
- The lack of national oral health care standards to ensure reasonable access to an agreed quality of oral health care for all people living in Canada, regardless of their situation.

Given these important and well-substantiated observations, the Panel has developed a vision for oral health care in Canada and makes recommendations aimed at advising a variety of stakeholders on how to move towards achieving this vision. The stakeholders targeted by this report include:

- Federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal governments and governmental agencies;
- The dental professions, including dental professional regulatory bodies, professional associations, dental education and research institutions, and other forms of "organized dentistry;"
- Physicians, nurses, and other health care professionals that regularly care for vulnerable groups; and
- The organizations or advocacy groups representing vulnerable groups in Canada.

A Vision for Oral Health Care in Canada

The Panel envisages equity¹ in access to oral health care for all people living in Canada.

¹ By equity in access, the Panel means reasonable access, based on need for care, to agreed-upon standards of preventive and restorative oral health care

The Core Problems Identified in this Report

This report identifies a number of issues, as outlined in the aforementioned list. These can be distilled to the following core problems:

- Vulnerable groups living in Canada have both the highest level of oral health problems and the most difficulty accessing oral health care; and
- The public and private oral health care systems in Canada are not effective in providing reasonable access to oral health care for all vulnerable people living in Canada.

Recommendations to Address the Core Problems and Achieve the Vision

The recommendations designed to address the core problems identified in the report are grouped into a framework that provides a logical order of priority, proceeding as follows:

- A. Communicate with relevant stakeholders concerning the core problems raised in the report.
- B. Establish appropriate standards of preventive and restorative oral health care to which all people living in Canada should have reasonable access.
- C. Identify the health care delivery systems and the personnel necessary to provide these standards of oral health care.
- D. Identify how provision of these standards of preventive and restorative oral health care will be financed.
- E. Identify the research and evaluation systems that monitor the effects of putting these recommendations into place.

As an aid to making progress, the Panel also identified groups that should be acting on the recommendations, either within the wording of the recommendations or identified at the end of each one. The recommendations are therefore expanded as follows:

- A. Communicate with relevant stakeholders concerning the core problems, to enable mutual understanding of the report's findings and initiate discussions to address the recommendations.
 - i. Communicate the findings of this report with representatives of relevant vulnerable groups and obtain their input to contextualize them.
 - ii. Communicate the findings of this report with relevant dental and other health care professional groups and obtain their input to contextualize them.

- iii. Communicate the findings of this report with relevant federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal government agencies and obtain their input to contextualize them.
- iv. Communicate the findings of this report with relevant private sector stakeholders (e.g., health insurance companies) and obtain their input to contextualise them.
- B. Engage with relevant decision-making, professional, and client/patient groups to develop evidence-based standards of preventive and restorative oral health care to which all people living in Canada have reasonable access.
 - i. Engage vulnerable groups and their representation as partners in order to identify their needs for standards of oral health care.
 - ii. Engage with the dental professions to identify their views on what evidencebased standards of oral health care should be.
 - iii. Engage with federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal government and other public agencies to identify their views on what agreed-upon standards of oral health care should be.
- C. Plan the personnel and delivery systems required to provide these standards of oral health care to diverse groups, in a variety of settings, with particular attention to vulnerable groups.
 - i. Create or enhance public options for oral health care in alternative service settings, such as community health centres, institutions for elderly people who are non- and semi-autonomous, long-term care settings for those with handicaps, etc. (*Targets: community health centres; centres for the elderly and those with handicaps.*)
 - ii. Deliver simple, preventive oral health care for children in non-dental settings and dental offices so that children get a good start in life. (*Targets: pediatric dentists, physicians, nurses and other pediatric health professionals; dental hygienists; preschool institutions; primary schools.*)
 - iii. Develop domiciliary and other "outreach" oral health care for those with difficulties accessing private dental offices or community services, for example, on-site services for the institutionalized elderly. (*Targets: geriatricians, dentists and other health professionals caring for the elderly; dental hygienists; institutions for the elderly and handicapped.*)
 - iv. Renew the role of dental therapy, review the use of dental hygienists, and explore the use of alternative providers of oral health care to ensure that cost-effective care is provided in settings not currently served by dental professionals. (*Target: provincial governments; dental regulatory bodies; dental therapists; dental hygienists.*)
 - v. Provide explicit training for oral health care professionals in versatile approaches to oral health care delivery for a variety of vulnerable groups. (*Targets:*

Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry [ACFD]; dental schools; dental hygiene colleges; Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada.)

- vi. Promote and deliver continuing education that equips practicing professionals with the knowledge and skills to understand and treat the oral health care needs of vulnerable groups. (Targets: dental schools; dental hygiene colleges; Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation; provincial dental regulatory bodies.)
- vii. Promote the inclusion of relevant oral health and oral health care training in nondental training programs, such as medicine and nursing. (*Targets: Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing; Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada.*)

D. Review and provide the financing of necessary personnel and systems and create mechanisms to ensure the availability and prioritization of funds for the provision of agreed-upon standards of oral health care.

- i. Establish more equity in the financing of oral health care by developing policy to promote dental insurance that promotes evidence-based practice among all employers, employees, and self-employed people, including those working in non-traditional work arrangements. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; insurance companies; employers' associations; workers' associations; unions.*)
- ii. Review the legislation concerning tax treatment for employment-based dental insurance to address the lack of tax benefits for those without insurance. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; employers' associations; workers' associations; unions*)
- iii. Review the fees paid for oral health care to ensure that they are fair for both provider and patient, and incentivize the provision of care based on evidence. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; dental profession.*)
- iv. Prioritize the financing of interventions where there is strong evidence of therapeutic effect and social gain (e.g., community water fluoridation and fluoride varnish), with disinvestment from interventions where there is weak or no evidence of effectiveness (e.g., routine teeth scaling in healthy individuals) or evidence of more effective and efficient alternatives. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; dental profession; ACFD; dental schools.*)

E. Monitor and evaluate publically funded oral health care systems that are designed to improve access to agreed-upon standards of care for all people living in Canada.

- i. Create effective data collection and information systems for use in answering policy-relevant questions, using appropriate outcome indicators. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; Canadian Institutes of Health Research [CIHR]; ACFD; dental schools; dental profession.*)
- Develop a more integrated approach to generating and translating knowledge into evidence to provide more effective oral health care for vulnerable groups. Government agencies, health care professionals, researchers, educators, and

those representing the client groups and organizations involved in care need to create networks to enable the development, implementation and evaluation of standards of care. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; CIHR; ACFD; dental professions; client group representatives; insurance companies*)

1 BACKGROUND TO THIS REPORT

1.1 The Charge to the Panel

Although the oral health status of people in Western societies has improved greatly in the last four decades, oral diseases, especially dental caries (cavities) and periodontal diseases (infections of the gums and bones supporting the teeth), are still highly prevalent and affect many people throughout their lives. Oral diseases are widespread but their societal distribution is very uneven; the health burden imposed by oral diseases is particularly high in disadvantaged groups, and the oral health gap between the advantaged and disadvantaged is getting worse.

Dental caries and periodontal diseases have major impacts on health and the quality of life, and there is increasing evidence of associations between oral and systemic diseases. Enhancing oral health and ensuring timely access to quality oral health care for all citizens has become a public health priority in most Western countries. However, the costs of prevention and management of these diseases are not generally incorporated in provincial or territorial health care systems (Medicare) in Canada.

Accordingly, the Canadian Academy of Health Sciences (CAHS) decided to undertake a formal assessment of oral health care in Canada through the creation of a multi-disciplinary panel of experts. The CAHS ensured that the process engaged appropriate expertise, was evidence-based, and avoided conflicts of interest. The specific charge to the Panel was to address the following questions and make recommendations, as appropriate:

- 1. What is the current state of oral health in Canada?
- 2. What is the current state of Canada's oral health care system(s)? How are they structured, administered and governed?
- 3. What factors determine the oral health of individuals and communities?
- 4. What are the impacts of poor oral health on individuals and on Canadian society? Are there any identifiable groups among whom these impacts are more severe?
- 5. What measures could be taken to improve the oral health of Canadians? What would be the associated direct and indirect costs of such measures?

1.2 The Aim of the Report

This aim of this report is to answer the questions charged to the Panel by describing the impacts of oral disease and illness on individuals and society, the impacts of good oral health care, the determinants of oral health and oral health care utilization and access, and the oral health care systems that exist throughout Canada. The oral health status and oral health care experiences of people living in Canada are reviewed, concentrating on vulnerable groups such as low income households, young children, the elderly, aboriginal groups, refugees, immigrants, those with disabilities, and people living in rural regions. New data analyses are presented using data from the recent Canadian Health Measures Survey

(CHMS), which for the first time in approximately 40 years has provided nationally representative clinical information on the oral health status of Canadians. Targeted literature reviews were also completed, with all information reviewed and discussed by the Panel. Finally, recommendations are made to political, administrative, and professional decision-makers at national, provincial, municipal, institutional, and organizational levels, as well as to organizations and associations representing vulnerable groups.

1.3 Methods Used

1.3.1 Framework for Describing and Understanding the Issues

This report uses the concept of *access* as proposed by Penchansky and Thomas [1]. These authors noted that while *access* was frequently used when discussing health care, it generally lacked a precise definition in health care policy. They suggested that without an operational definition, it constrained policy debates on health care to the realm of political discourse, rather than empirical demonstrations of the challenges experienced by individuals when trying to access health care. They proposed five dimensions to the concept of access:

- 1. Affordability (Do the provider's charges relate to the client's ability and willingness to pay for services?).
- 2. Availability (Does the provider have the requisite resources, such as personnel and technology, to meet the needs of the client?).
- 3. Accessibility (How easily can the client physically reach the provider's location?).
- 4. Accommodation (Is the provider's operation organized in ways that meet the constraints and preferences of the client?).
- 5. Acceptability (Is the client comfortable with the characteristics of the provider, and vice versa?).

Quantitative and qualitative evidence presented in this report speaks to these five dimensions of access in Canada's oral health care system.

In addition, the following definitions were also used for key phrases in the report:

Vulnerable populations—Mechanic and Tanner [2] state that "vulnerability involves several interrelated dimensions: individual capacities and actions; the availability or lack of intimate and instrumental support; and neighborhood and community resources that may facilitate or hinder personal coping and interpersonal relationships." In the context of this report, we take this to mean people who have one or more of these dimensions of vulnerability: they may have reduced capacities as an individual (whether these are physical, cognitive, educational, financial or other); lack family or other intimate support networks; or their local and broader community may lack or have barriers to access necessary facilities.

Health inequality and inequity—The World Health Organization [3] describes these concepts as follows: "Health inequalities can be defined as differences in health status or in the distribution of health determinants between different population groups. For example, differences in mobility between elderly people and younger populations or differences in

mortality rates between people from different social classes. It is important to distinguish between inequality in health and inequity. Some health inequalities are attributable to biological variations or free choice and others are attributable to the external environment and conditions mainly outside the control of the individuals concerned. In the first case it may be impossible or ethically or ideologically unacceptable to change the health determinants and so the health inequalities are unavoidable. In the second, the uneven distribution may be unnecessary and avoidable as well as unjust and unfair, so that the resulting health inequalities also lead to inequity in health."

The Panel's vision and recommendations mention equity in access to oral health care for all people living in Canada, which means reasonable access to agreed-upon standards of preventive and restorative oral health care based on need for care.

1.3.2 The Literature Review Performed for this Report

This report is based on targeted reviews of the literature as determined by the Panel. Key words were defined and articles were located using various databases such as Medline and Google Scholar. Through four face-to-face meetings, members of the Panel also provided periodic review, input, and additional resources. The best available evidence was obtained and prioritized using the generally accepted hierarchy of evidence (randomized clinical trials > cohort > case control > cross-sectional > case series and reports). Articles that appear in this report have also been abstracted to evidence tables, where appropriate, and included in an appendix.

1.3.3 Analyses of the Canadian Health Measures Survey

For approximately 40 years, Canada had no national clinical data on oral health. Yet this changed with the introduction of the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) by Statistics Canada in 2007. As a result, the Panel felt that analyses of this survey were necessary for this report, in order to make clear the current national state of oral health, as well as the utilization of, and access to, oral health care in Canada. As with the literature review, targeted analyses were conducted, with the Panel providing periodic review and input.

Therefore, the report includes secondary data analyses of the CHMS, Cycle 1 Household and Clinic Questionnaires. The data were accessed through Statistics Canada's Research Data Centre (RDC) in Montreal, Canada. The RDC provided access, in a secure university setting, to the confidential micro data files from the CHMS.

The CHMS is an observational (cross-sectional) multistage stratified survey of the noninstitutionalized Canadian population. The CHMS collected data from 5,604 Canadians aged six to 79 years old between 2007 and 2009, statistically representing 97 per cent of the Canadian population within this age bracket. The age bracket of this sample covered children, adolescents, young adults, and older adults. This consisted of those living in privately occupied dwellings in the ten provinces and the three territories. For each respondent in the survey, a sample weight was applied that corresponded to the number of people in Canada represented by the respondent in the survey population as a whole. Those excluded from the survey included persons living on Indian Reserves or Crown lands, residents of institutions, full-time members of the Canadian Forces, and residents of certain remote regions.

The CHMS data collection was conducted by Statistics Canada in partnership with Health Canada between March 2007 and February 2009. The CHMS used a personal household interview using a computer-assisted interviewing method in combination with a visit to a mobile examination centre for the direct clinical measures, such as oral health. For the household interview, 34 specific oral health questions were asked that gathered data on oral symptoms, habits, and source of funds to pay for oral health care. Within the mobile examination centre, clinical data were collected using calibrated examiners, noting such things as dental caries (cavities), periodontal (gum) conditions, and treatment needs, among other indicators. Details of the methods used for the CHMS are reported elsewhere [3].

The targeted analyses conducted for this report included simple descriptive analyses, along with bivariate and multivariate logistic and linear regression analyses. Since the Panel was particularly interested in understanding the nature of inequalities in oral health and access to oral health care, the health concentration index (CI) approach was used. This approach is a way to quantify income-related health inequalities across the income spectrum rather than simply comparing extremes (i.e., highest and lowest income groups). The CI approach was first developed by Wagstaff and colleagues and has since been used frequently to describe and measure the degree of inequality for various health outcomes [4]. This approach has now become a common measurement tool in the epidemiological and health economics literature to investigate the magnitude of inequality, negative values indicating concentration of the health or access indicator among the lower income group, and positive values indicating concentration of the health or access indicator in the higher income group. The greater the absolute value of CI, the greater the degree of concentration in a negative or positive direction and the greater the inequality.

More recently, an approach was developed by health economists to decompose the CI in order to estimate the relative contribution of various components in explaining the total inequality [5, 6]. The decomposition analyses enable calculations of the percentage contribution of factors (e.g., health behaviours, health care systems, and socio-economic status) to oral health inequalities.

All data analyses were performed using STATA 11.1 and ADePT. STATA is a strong tool for analysing health survey data with complex sampling design, and ADePT is a statistical program recently developed by the World Bank specifically for health inequality research. It is particularly useful for analyzing large national health surveys.

2 DEFINING THE PROBLEM

2.1 Inequalities in Oral Health in Canada

While the majority of people living in Canada report having good oral health, there are important inequalities within the population. These inequalities in oral health are expressed in a variety of ways in terms of different oral health indicators and between different groups. To illustrate the point, this section provides examples using a range of health indicators and vulnerable population groups.

One of the most common indicators of oral health used in dentistry is the index of Decayed, Missing, and Filled Teeth (DMFT). This is an indicator of experience of dental decay and its consequences. Figure 2.1 shows that the number of missing teeth and overall caries experience (DMFT) are higher in adults within households with the lowest education level, while the number of sound teeth (i.e., those with no decay or filling and which are not missing) is highest in the higher education level group. Similarly, Figure 2.2 illustrates the relationship between gum disease and immigration and gum disease and education status in adults, with immigrants and those with lower levels of education more frequently having gum disease.



Figure 2.1 Oral health indicators by education level in adults

DMFT: Decayed, missing, and filled teeth.

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.2 Prevalence of periodontal (gum) disease in 20–59 year old adults by immigration and education status

Periodontal disease: Presence of loss of periodontal attachment of 4mm or more on one or more teeth. Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

Figure 2.3, Figure 2.4, Figure 2.5 further demonstrate that the experience of dental or oral pain, and mean numbers of untreated decayed teeth in children and adolescents living in Canada is strongly associated with household income and whether their parents own the place in which they live. In these cases, the poorer groups or non-ownership of a home are associated with a higher prevalence of dental pain, and children from families whose parents have the lowest education level have the highest level of untreated dental decay.

Another way to look at health inequities is the *concentration index* (as explained in section 1.3.3). The data in the analyses illustrated in Figure 2.8 are from adults in the CHMS survey and demonstrate how untreated dental decay, missing teeth, oral pain, and periodontal (gum) disease are concentrated in lower income groups living in Canada, while filled teeth are concentrated in those with higher incomes.

An important observation from Figure 2.6 is that *the concentration of untreated dental decay, missing teeth, and oral pain in women from low-income groups is much greater than among men from low-income groups.* To add to this important new observation, data in Table 2.1 enable comparison of inequalities for general health outcomes such as obesity and high blood pressure with oral health inequalities. From these comparisons,

it is clear that while there is a greater concentration of all diseases among those from lower-income groups, the concentration of oral disease in the poor is much greater than for these general health conditions.



Figure 2.3 Percentage of children and adolescents experiencing dental pain during the past year by ownership of residence in which they live

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.4 Percentage of children and adolescents experiencing dental pain during the past year by household income level

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.5 Mean number of decayed teeth in children and adolescents by highest level of parental education



Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

Figure 2.6 Concentration indices for selected oral health measures among adults*

*Range of Concentration Index (CI) is -1 to +1, with 0 indicating no inequality, negative figures indicating the outcome is experienced more in those from poorer households and positive figures indicating the outcome is more common in wealthier households.

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

Table 2.1. Concentration indices for general and oral health indicators amongadults

	Indicator	Concentration Index (CI)*
General health indicators	Obesity	-0.05
	High blood pressure	-0.04
Oral health indicators	Decayed teeth	-0.26
	Missing teeth	-0.15

*Range of Concentration Index (CI) is -1 to +1, with 0 indicating no inequality, negative figures indicating the outcome is experienced more in those from poorer households and positive figures indicating the outcome is more common in wealthier households.

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

2.2 Inequalities in Oral Health Care in Canada

As demonstrated in section 3.1, there are systemic oral health inequalities in Canada, with poor oral health and its impacts concentrated in vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. To add to this, while dental care is accessible for the majority of people living in Canada, just as there are important inequalities in oral health, there are also important inequalities in the ability of people living in Canada to access to dental care. Furthermore, the same groups are suffering the double burden of the highest level of oral health problems and the greatest barriers to oral health care. The CHMS study shows that 84.5 per cent of people living in Canada report good to excellent oral health and 74.3 per cent report visiting a dentist yearly [7]. However, there is a significant minority of people living in Canada reporting difficulties accessing care. This minority consists of socially and economically vulnerable populations for whom conventional private oral health care is often inaccessible [7]. For instance, 17.3 per cent of the whole population (i.e., approximately 6 million people) reports avoiding visiting a dentist in the last year due to the costs, and those living in the lowest income families report this as being a problem far more often than the highest income families (34 per cent vs. 9 per cent, respectively. See Figure 2.7) [7].

In addition, there is a pattern that is uniform across all age groups: those without dental insurance of any kind (public or private) do not visit the dentist regularly and avoid oral health care due to the costs (see Figure 2.8, Figure 2.9, and Figure 2.10). Furthermore, there are striking differences in who has dental insurance by age and income group. Those in the eldest age group report having no insurance much more frequently than younger groups, and approximately 50 per cent of people in the lowest income group also report having no insurance (see Figure 2.11). Furthermore, when focusing on the elderly, the level of problems accessing dental care across the income groups increase but the inequalities remain (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.7 Indicators of dental care access by family income levels in Canada

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.8 Insurance and access to oral health care among children & adolescents

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.9 Insurance and access to oral health care among adults



Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

Figure 2.10 Insurance and access to oral health care among the elderly

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.11 Prevalence of no dental insurance by age group and family income level

These data from the CHMS highlight important inequalities in access to dental care in Canada. In addition, Canada's oral health care system has been described as inequitable on a variety of fronts. Leake [8] has stressed that Canada's oral health care system is a clear example of "the inverse care law" [9], where the people that need the most care receive the least. In Canada, general medical health care is typically available to people who need it, irrespective of their ability to pay. The *Canada Health Act* states that "continued access to quality health care without financial or other barriers will be critical to maintaining and improving the health and well-being of Canadians" [10]. The question remains as to why policy attempting to achieve "continued access without financial or other barriers" has not been enacted for oral health care.

In addition, Allin [11] and Grignon *et al.* [12] have demonstrated that Canada's oral health care system is "pro-rich." They confirm that in all of Canada's 10 provinces, the probability of visiting a dentist is much higher for those with the least need for care. Similar work by van Doorslaer and Masseria shows that Canada ranks among the poorest performers when compared to other OECD nations in this regard [13]. Allin also notes that the main contributors to inequity in oral health care use are income and dental insurance coverage, meaning that low income and a lack of insurance play the dominant role in limiting people's ability to access oral health care. Most importantly, it is both income and insurance that are most likely to be improved by policy intervention [11].

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.



Figure 2.12 Indicators of access to dental care and household income among elderly people living in Canada

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

The financing of oral health care in Canada has also been heavily criticized relative to its shortcomings in the face of the general policy push towards health care equity [8]. Oral health care is predominantly financed privately through employer-employee arrangements, but these "non-wage benefits" are exempt from income tax. This results in a situation where those with the least amount of need and fewest economic barriers to care (i.e., those with high income and employer provided dental insurance) have the costs of care covered by insurance paid from pre-tax dollars (i.e., income before tax is deducted), while those with the most need and the greatest financial barriers to care (i.e., low income and no employer provided dental insurance) pay for any care received out-of-pocket, with after-tax dollars. This increases inequalities in oral health and oral health care.

2.3 The Relationship between Inequalities in Oral Health and Access to Oral Health Care in Canada

Previous sections of this report present evidence for inequalities in oral health and inequalities in oral health care in Canada. This section demonstrates the links between the two phenomena: how those that have difficulty accessing care also have more prevalent and severe disease.



Figure 2.13 Prevalence of oral pain and having difficulty eating food according to dental avoidance because of the cost





Figure 2.14 Pattern of dental service use and the mean number of decayed teeth and filled teeth in adults

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data. Checkups: people attending regularly for check-ups; Emergency care or never: people attending only for emergency care or never.



Figure 2.15 Dental status and avoidance of dental visits due to cost among elderly people living in Canada

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

Figure 2.13 illustrates how the experience of dental and oral pain and difficulty eating certain foods during the past 12 months are related to avoiding a dental consult due to cost. Those who avoid the dentist much more frequently experience pain and difficulty eating foods compared to those who do not avoid the dentist due to cost. Similarly, in Figure 2.14, those adults who only consult a dentist in cases of emergencies or who never consult a dentist have on average nearly eight times more dental decay and they have half the fillings than those who consult regularly for "check-ups." Among the elderly, a similar picture exists (Figure 2.15), with those avoiding the dentist due to cost having a mean number of decayed teeth three times that of regular attenders, and over two more missing teeth than those elderly people attending a dentist regularly.

In summary, vulnerable and disadvantaged groups in Canada have the greatest burden of oral disease and also have the greatest difficulty accessing oral health care. These factors are linked; those people who have difficulty accessing oral health care also have the highest levels of oral disease and pain and discomfort.
3 THE CURRENT MODEL OF FINANCING AND DELIVERY OF DENTAL CARE IN CANADA

The current model of delivery for the vast majority of dental care provided in Canada is simple: it is delivered through private dental offices and financed almost exclusively through a combination of employment-based insurance and out-of-pocket payments. The small minority of dental care provided through various public sector agencies is, on the other hand, a complex and ad hoc mix of models of delivery, providers, and financing. This chapter addresses the second charge to the panel and, in particular, highlights the gaps that exist in this mixture of systems. Given the overall complexity of the situation, this chapter describes the history of Canadian oral health care policy, the current systems in place, and the workforce currently used; it also makes international comparisons and highlights problem areas.

3.1 The Historical Development of Canadian Oral Health Care Services

In the second half of the nineteenth century, Canadian dentistry was a mix of formal and informal activity. In jurisdictions like Ontario and Nova Scotia, dentistry was controlled through educational requirements and professional regulation, while in others, anyone could deliver care with minimal oversight [14, 15]. At this time, John Adams, recognized as Canada's father of "public health dentistry," opened a dental hospital offering free care for poor children and published mass health education material. This is important as it reflects much of what concerns Canadian dentistry in its response to social need, even today, namely public support for the treatment of vulnerable groups, in particular children, with a heavy emphasis on prevention.

By 1902, the Canadian Dental Association (CDA) was formed, and was soon calling for the legislated public coverage of children's dental examinations and the inclusion of education materials in public settings. By the Roaring Twenties, dentistry had established its modern and easily recognizable market appeal through mass print media, promoting the benefits of clean, white teeth for social success. As the 1920s boom gave way to the Great Depression, widespread social suffering resulted in the idea that the State should have a role in the delivery of health care services writ large. This growth in social thinking, or social responsibility, led to the 1938 Royal Commission on Dominion Provincial Relations, which in part considered a potential system of national health insurance that included dentistry. In its brief, the CDA characterised oral health care in terms of "Those able to provide adequate dental services for themselves [...]. Those only able to provide partial and inadequate dental services for themselves [and] those unable to provide any dental services for themselves" [16]. With a clear and strong emphasis on individual responsibility, the profession continued to advocate for a preventive approach that focussed on children and health education. Oral health care policy in Canada was essentially defined: a strong bias towards children, prevention, and personal responsibility.

World War II played a strong role in establishing dentistry as a social priority, as one-infive recruits were reported as unfit for enlistment due to dental disease [17]. Oral health care gained new prominence, and dental departments were incorporated into health ministries across the country. This was also linked to the major social investments made after the war, which for health care involved federal grants that promoted investments in government-delivered services, including oral health care. Canada began adopting community water fluoridation at this time as well. By the 1950s, Canada created public health care coverage systems, including hospital care, which in specific jurisdictions informally included some surgical-dental services. Based on the plans of the 1964 Royal Commission on Health Services, the country nationalized payment for physician services in 1968, giving rise to Medicare, but dentistry was not included. The Commission had defined dentistry as a personal responsibility, and for the most part only supported public funding for oral health care for children and for those people receiving social assistance, or for those where individual responsibility was seen as lessened. Canada thus guaranteed a social minimum, but one based on age, employment (or lack thereof), and a particular conception of social need.





Source: Quiñonez et al., (2010) [18].

Concurrently, private, employment-based dental insurance was taking hold in Canada, supported by new tax incentives for both the employer and employee. The growth in the private sector was significant, and across many industries employer contributions for health benefit plans increased substantially (Figure 3.1). Public investments also grew, as almost all provinces established children's and welfare programming during this period (Figure 3.2). By the 1980s, public investments had slowed, and with the impacts of an economic recession in the 1980s and another in the 1990s, governments imposed severe cutbacks, and public financing for oral health care began its decline.



Figure 3.2 Public per capita oral health care expenditures in Canada, 1960–2005 (2005 constant dollars)

Source: Quiñonez C., et al., (2007) [19]

3.2 Canadian Oral Health Care Systems as They Exist Now

As in general medical health care, Canada ostensibly has 14 oral health care arrangements for funding and delivery of oral health care: ten provinces, three territories, and a federal system. All jurisdictions publicly finance dental care for various groups (Table 3.1), predominantly low income populations, with the federal system largely defined by the care it targets to First Nations and Inuit populations [19], but including services for the armed forces, Veterans Affairs, RCMP, prisoners, and Citizenship and Immigration Canada. In addition, there are services provided by some municipalities on an ad hoc basis. For instance, fluoridation of water supplies is a municipal responsibility.

Described collectively, the systems are mixed, meaning they are made up of public and private financing and delivery. Yet it is more accurate to say that Canada has one oral health care "system." On a national basis, the vast majority of all care is financed privately and delivered in private dental offices, regardless of location.

Table 3.1. Provincial- and territorial-level mandated public oral health careprogramming, and municipal and non-governmental services, Canada, 2007

	In-hospital surgical	Social	Child	Seniors	Disability	Municipal se	ervices	NGO service	25
	dental services	assistance services	services	Services	services	Treatment	Prevention	University	Community
BC	Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
AB	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
SK	Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	
MB	Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
ON	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
QC	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	
NB	Х	Х					Х		
NS	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х
PEI	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х		
NF/LA	Х	Х	Х						
NU	Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	
NWT	X	X		X		X	Х	X	
YK	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х		

Source: Quiñonez et al., (2008) [20].

In fact, although there are some differences in the territories because of the very high numbers of registered First Nations peoples, within each provincial jurisdiction, the structure of oral health care systems is very similar:

- Legislated and unlegislated public health programs, publically financing care delivered in the private sector;
- A private system that is far larger than anything public, predominantly financed by employment-based insurance and out-of-pocket payments, almost wholly delivered by dentists on a fee-for-service basis; and
- Municipalities deciding whether to fluoridate the water supply on an ad hoc basis.

Nevertheless, unlike the transferability of coverage under Medicare between Canadian provinces and territories, these public dental care systems are not inter-related, resulting in important gaps in policy, services, and population coverage.

Trying to understand the balance of private versus public dental care is best illustrated through a breakdown of its financing. Oral health care is almost wholly financed through the private sector in Canada, with approximately 51 per cent of all care paid for through employment-based insurance and 44 per cent through direct out-of-pocket payments (Table 3.2) [21].

Table 3.2 Total health and oral health care expenditures, by source of finance,Canada, 2008 (\$000,000s; excluding federal government expenses)

General/medical health care expenditures						
Public sector	Privat	Total				
\$135,100	\$5	6,600	\$191,700			
(70.5% of total)	(28.5%	6 of total)				
\$585	\$1	\$11,256				
(4.9% of total)	(95%					
	Out-of-pocket	Insurance				
	\$5,218	\$6,038				
	(44% of total) (51% of total)					

Source: CIHI, (2011) [21].

Almost all of the limited public financing that is available (approximately 5 per cent of the total dental financing) is targeted to socially marginalized groups and delivered in the private sector through public forms of third party payments (Table 3.3Table 3.4) [19].

3.2.1 The Public/Private Divide in Oral Healthcare Provision

Understanding the details of public and private oral health care financing and delivery in Canada is important, as it has a bearing on what types of service gaps have been created and for which groups. It also has a bearing on what policy options are politically feasible. As previously stated, the vast majority of all oral health care is delivered in the private sector, with very little publicly financed care available (approximately 5 per cent of all oral health care expenditures). This was not always the case, as in the early 1980s, approximately 20 per cent of all oral health care was publicly financed, and a significant public infrastructure for oral health care delivery was present in many jurisdictions [19]. This took the form of public dental clinics staffed by salaried dentists, dental hygienists, or both. In the provinces of Saskatchewan and Manitoba, in federal jurisdictions, and in the Yukon, Northwest Territories, and Labrador, dental therapists played a significant role. Stemming from the 1964 Royal Commission on Health Services, which recommended that another dental professional category be created to treat isolated aboriginal populations that were then (and remain) severely under-serviced, the dental therapist model was imported from New Zealand, where individuals are trained for two years to provide preventive and restorative treatment to children and emergency care for adults. Since that time, provincial oral health care policy has changed, meaning government support for the direct delivery of oral health care has undergone major retrenchment, with governments shifting almost all of the public financing available towards indirect delivery through private offices (Tables 3.5 and 3.6).

	Targeted public oral health care expenditures (\$000)	Targeted oral health treatment expenditures for socially marginalized (\$000)	Surgical oral health care expenditures (\$000)	Total publicly financed oral health care expenditures (\$000)
BC	3,500	44,809	1,539	49,848
AB	6,000ª	40,000 ^a	3,276	49,276
SK	1,200 ^a	7,247	1,511	9,958
MB	1,800 ^ª	4,300	985	7,085
ON	33,000 ^ª	65,500 [°]	14,230	112,730
QC	45,529	47,710	5,966	99,205
NB	50	3,400	505	3,955
NS	1,000	9,220 ^ª	1,064	11,284
PEI	2,389	533	91	3,013
NF/LA	0	5,740	313	6,053
NU			1,700	1,700
NWT	1,067		348	1,415
ҮК	375	221 ^ª	25	621
Federal			247,687	247,687
			Total	603,830

Table 3.3 Dental public health expenditures in Canada, 2007

^a Estimate

Source: Quiñonez et al., (2008) [20].

Table 3.4 Federal public oral health care expenditures in Canada, 2007

Federal organization	Expenditures (\$000)
Department of National Defence	27,000
Veterans Affairs Canada	18,000
Royal Canadian Mounted Police	8,888
Correctional Services Canada	2,800
Citizenship and Immigration Canada	999
Health Canada, First Nations and Inuit Health Branch	190,000
Total Federal	247,687

Source: Quiñonez et al., (2008) [20].

	1986	2005
Provincial Government Programs (mostly	\$204M	\$110M
direct delivery)		
Provincial Social Assistance Programs	\$56M	\$212M
(mostly indirect delivery)		
Dental/Surgical Payments, Medicare	\$14M	\$31M
Federal Government Programs	\$70M	\$225M
	(45% Aboriginal)	(77% Aboriginal)
Total	\$344M	\$578M

Table 3.5 Comparing the distribution of dental public health care resources,1986 and 2005 (M is \$000,000)

Sources: Bedford (1986) AND Quiñonez (2005) [19, 22]..

The relevance of these factors is reviewed below. However, it is important to say that this public/private split also reflects a major tension in dentistry: that of the professional preference for private care and indirect delivery of dental care in private settings, in the face of a clear need for direct, publically financed care in easily accessible public service delivery settings. In this regard, it should perhaps be surprising that only 5 per cent of all oral health care expenditures attract so much professional attention and debate, while the remainder attracts so little. Yet employment-based insurance, as the major form of financing oral health care in the country, also deserves attention relative to new threats to its viability. For example, the robustness of private dental benefits has been slowly eroded over the last 20 years, and in the face of recent economic challenges, non-wage benefits are under scrutiny by major employers [24]. Historically, this form of financing was promoted by government subsidies in the form of private health and dental benefits that do not attract taxation, and this acts as an incentive for employers to offer these non-wage benefits to employees, thus improving the overall nature of employment contracts. Furthermore, in the context of this report, it is important to note that those with employer-based dental insurance have a tax benefit over those with no such insurance. As noted previously, those without insurance are more likely to come from poorer groups (see Figure 2.11 and Figure 2.12), have poorer oral health and access to oral health care (see Figure 2.8, Figure 2.9, and Figure 2.10), and have to pay for oral health care with after-tax dollars.

Table 3.6	Public	expenditures	for	oral	health	care,	by	governmental	focus,
select pro	vinces,	1980 and 2005	; (\$0	00s)					

	Public health programs		Social assista	nce programs	Surgical-dental services	
	(mostly	direct	(mostly indire	ect delivery)		
	delivery)					
	1980	2005	1980	2005	1980	2005
BC	29,131	3,500	14,843	40,270	1,843	5,269
AB	5,344	6,100	25,070	40,000	221	2,404
SK	13,416	2,468	1,224	7,088	507	1,499
MB	3,997	1,800	1,826	4,300	746	750
QC	77,255	45,529	22,935	47,710	3,784	5,966
NB	927	50	1,600	2,980	50	189
NS	9,320	7,655	139	4,000	1,309	1,707
PEI	1,555	2,600	100	250	41	91
Total	142,925	71,707	69,717	148,603	10,481	19,880

Note: Ontario, Newfoundland, and the territories are excluded, as expenditure data is unclear.

Sources: Stamm et al., (1986) AND Quiñonez (2005) [19, 23]

3.2.2 The Federal/Provincial/Municipal Divide in Oral Health Care Provision

Understanding who is involved in the public financing and delivery of oral health care is also important. The federal government, through its financing of care for First Nations and Inuit populations, contributes a significant percentage of all public dollars spent on oral health care in Canada. Federal authorities, unlike most provinces, still have a dedicated oral health care delivery system that it employs to deliver care to aboriginal communities. In some places, this is accomplished through dental therapists, but now is mostly provided through the work of salaried, per diem, or fee-for-service dentists who travel to these largely isolated communities. Nevertheless, the majority of the care financed by federal authority for aboriginal populations is still delivered in private dental practices in urban and suburban settings overall. Provinces, on the other hand, finance care for socially marginalized groups, but as a general rule have no dedicated oral health care delivery systems except in unique cases such as Quebec; here, this comprises the work of dental hygienists delivering preventive care.

The scenario also changes at the level of municipalities. In most provinces in Canada, larger municipalities are involved in the financing of oral health care, either through cost-sharing agreements with provinces, or through completely independent programs. They too deliver care indirectly, but very large municipalities have some level of direct delivery through small networks of public clinics. This results in an unclear and uneven mix of public financing and delivery across the provinces and territories; consequentially,

this also results in differential coverage and access to dental care across the country. The relevance of this situation is described more fully below.

3.3 Canada and International Comparisons

Using 1999/2000 data, van Doorslaer and Masseria [13] showed that Canada ranks among the poorest performers in terms of equity in dental care use when compared to other OECD nations. When not controlling for need and simply presenting descriptive information, 2011 OECD data demonstrate that Canada has some of the largest differences between the rich and poor in terms of annual dental visits (see Figure 3.3). Just under 80 per cent of those in the the richest groups are likely to visit a dentist in the past year, while approximately 47 per cent of those in the poorest group are likely to visit a dentist in the past year.





- ¹ Visits in past 2 years
- ² Visits in past 3 months

Source: Adapted from Figure 6.6.2: OECD estimates (2011) [25].

Additionally, when ranked by the amount of public funds allocated to oral health care, Canada is close to last [26] (Figure 3.4). Moreover, when observing trends in the proportion of dental expenditures from public funds for 2001, 2005, and 2008, the U.S. and other OECD nations have increased their public share in total oral health care, while Canada's share has decreased. In short, most OECD nations provide much more public

funding for oral health care than Canada and, as will be described further on in this report, have more robust and equitable ways of providing oral health care to their populations.



Figure 3.4 Public share of per capita dental care expenditure in OECD countries during 2001–08

Source: Adapted from Parkin and Devlin (2003) [26].

Birch and Anderson have described one of the consequences of Canada's decreasing public investments in oral health care [27] (see Table 3.7). They show that, among individuals who do not consult a dentist due to the costs, the differences between those of high and low income are markedly pronounced, yet not in countries that have more robust public funding and delivery of oral health care, such as the United Kingdom, Australia, and New Zealand. In Canada, while 15 per cent of those in high-income groups do not consult a dentist due to cost, 42 per cent of those in low income families do not consult a dentist. The same figures for high and low income families not consulting a physician due to cost in Canada are three and nine per cent. In short, while Canada attempts to attain an equitable approach to the financing and delivery of general medical health care, this is definitely not the case for oral health care. This observation is supported by other work showing that in Canada, as people report themselves feeling less healthy, they report more visits to a family physician, yet the same is not true for oral health [28] (Figure 3.5). For oral health care in Canada, the poorer that someone's general health is rated, the lower the likelihood of them visiting a dentist.

	% not consulting physician due to					onsulting	dentist du	e to cost
			cost					
Country	sick	all	high	low	sick	all	high	low
	adults	adults	income	income	adults	adults	income	income
USA	28	24	15	36	40	35	24	51
New								
Zealand	26	20	18	24	47	37	36	40
Australia	16	11	10	14	44	33	31	38
Canada	9	5	3	9	35	26	15	42
UK	4	3	2	4	21	19	19	20

Table 3.7 Proportion of adults needing care but not consulting physician or dentist due to cost (2001–02)

Source: Adapted from Birch and Anderson (2005) [27].





Source: Adapted from Sabbah and Leake (2000) [28].

3.4 The Problems with the Current Provision of Oral Health Care in Canada

Many are now recognizing the problems inherent in Canada's oral health care system. As a result, access to oral health care has gained prominence as a health policy issue [29-37]. For example, the media have championed the challenges experienced by lowincome groups in accessing care [29-31]. Provincial governments have responded with targeted funds for low-income children, adults, and seniors [32-36]. The federal government has added an Office of the Chief Dental Officer to provide policy leadership and direction in the area of oral health and oral health care across Canada (a similar office had not been in place for approximately thirty years) [37]. A recent President of the Canadian Medical Association (CMA) has suggested that Medicare be extended to include oral health care [29]. Finally, the Canadian Dental Association now recommends that governments establish a "dental safety net" for all disadvantaged Canadians, changing its traditional policy advice of only targeting specific vulnerable groups, particularly children [38].

Most recently, a report authored by major public and private oral health care policy stakeholders in collaboration with the Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives asked what the future of oral health care in Canada should look like [39]. They queried "a strange truth of Canadian public policy: [that] the care of our lips, tongues and throats is fully covered by public funding, but not our teeth and gums." All of this activity represents policy renewal in the context of 30 years of decreasing expenditures for publicly financed oral health care in Canada [21] (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6 Adults living in Canada with public or private dental insurance by income

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007-2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

As was previously shown (see section 4.3), among OECD nations Canada ranks near the bottom in terms of the public financing of oral health care [26]. In effect, the *public* aspect of Canada's oral health care system was developed to provide prevention and treatment services for those most at risk or those with no regular access to care (e.g., low-income children, social assistance recipients, and people with disabilities).

Unfortunately, this has excluded groups that arguably should receive public support when using care (e.g., low-income adults and seniors and the working poor) [40-42]. To summarize, the very small amount of public resources going into oral health care may not be enough to meet existing need and may not be targeted at all those in greatest need.

3.4.1 Exclusion of, and Challenges with, Specific Populations

Apart from sporadic public investments, the decline of governmental support for oral health care has continued, resulting in major gaps in our current system. These gaps were inherent in the system from its very beginnings, specifically due to policy predilections, again focussing on children, employment status, and individual responsibility [43]. In terms of children, most—if not all—provinces provide support for low-income children due to a heightened assessment of social responsibility. Yet this means that many age groups are completely excluded, including vulnerable populations such as low-income adolescents, adults, and seniors.

The focus on employment status has also led to a more discrete and unique gap, which is best highlighted through the challenge experienced by people working for low wages (the so-called "working poor") and now potentially the middle class [43, 44]. These individuals have employment, but do not generally have jobs that provide non-wage benefits, or have experienced a degradation of their employment-based dental benefits in general (Figure 3.3). This leaves dental care for these groups in particular jeopardy, as there are no public options available for them. Similarly, the assumption that employment is generally accompanied by non-wage benefits also leaves many retirees (Figure 2.11 Figure 2.12) who have limited incomes in difficulty, as non-wage benefits are very often lost upon retirement.

As for the issue of personal responsibility for oral health, this has resulted in a gap since personal responsibility cannot fully cover and manage the complexities of barriers to accessing oral health care. Again, being employed while facing a limited income is the clearest example of this, as these individuals are wholly responsible in relation to the current logic (i.e., they are employed), yet they are marginalized by the very system that implicitly privileges them. To be sure, the health care ethics literature has identified individual responsibility as an inadequate and potentially dangerous approach to distributional policy [45].

The results of these gaps are significant. At a minimum, they leave people without reasonable access to oral health care; at worst, the impacts can be extreme, such as the chronic experience of severe pain, loss of self-esteem, and even physical handicap. Additionally, the notion of a public context for oral health care has been severely diminished overall. Many of the public incentives that used to be part of the approach to publicly financed oral health care have been forgotten. For example, there is little support in the form of public subsidies for rural and poorly serviced communities who want to attract dentists; incentives that used to be supported by many provinces, yet are no longer [19].

The uniqueness of aboriginal populations is relevant here as well. Aboriginal populations suffer from some of the worst oral disease rates in Canada. As a result, due to their historical relationship with the federal government, select aboriginal populations have access to a quite robust set of services through Health Canada's Non-Insured Health Benefits Program. Nonetheless, due to rural isolation, care is often not available even if payment for services is. Furthermore, due to their specific relationship with the federal government, other problems appear. For example, there is often debate between provincial and federal authorities regarding who is responsible for First Nations populations when they are not living on reserve land. Both authorities consider themselves the insurer of last resort, which by definition cannot exist concurrently. There is also the issue that the state can be fickle in recognizing Aboriginal status, meaning it can be lost, which results in challenging situations where members of the same family, in the same community, lose access to oral health care, while others still have it.

Similar challenges exist for disabled, refugee and new immigrant populations as well. These groups suffer an inordinate burden of oral disease compared to their general Canadian counterparts. they often experience limited incomes, and while they sometimes have access to some public support (disabled and refugee populations specifically), they also experience significant barriers in accessing dental care. For example, the federal government has historically supported some refugees, but the coverage is limited and the timeline of coverage is short (often only one year from entry). This support may be completely lost in the near future, as the federal government has proposed the cancellation of this important program [46]. In addition, no province other than Quebec offers support for refugees. Furthermore, new immigrants have no public support for oral health care unless they qualify for social assistance coverage, and here too, the challenges of poverty are at play. Finally, for the disabled, their potential physical and cognitive inability to access oral health care in traditional settings limits the availability and appropriateness of care. In short, there is no integrated and omnibus approach to oral health care policy that attempts to address the challenges experienced by these different populations.

3.4.2 Lack of Oral Health Care Standards Across the Country

The lack of any clear oral health care policy across the country, in combination with the nature of Canadian governance, whereby health is largely governed at the provincial/territorial level with oral health care sometimes governed at the municipal level too, has resulted in major service gaps and a lack of service standards. Since there is no overarching legislation for oral health care, as there is for physician- and hospital-based care under the *Canada Health Act*, each province/territory has approached the financing of oral health care services in their own ways. As a result, the same publicly insured person could be covered for different services depending on the province they live in and, in some circumstances, the municipality they live in within the same province. In some cases, support for groups such as low income adults and seniors is extremely limited or can be completely discretionary. In tough economic times, the lack

of legislative protection for these programs allows governments to stop funding without any significant resistance, regardless of the negative impact that this can have on many people's lives.

All of this has implications in terms of the appropriateness of the care that is publicly funded, and for the efficiency and effectiveness of the care that is provided. For example, by privileging insurance as a mechanism to pay for care, government oral health care programs have almost unknowingly structured themselves as private dental benefit plans, attempting to provide the same or similar services as those that are available through employment arrangements. The Auditor General of Canada has been critical of the federal financing of oral health care for Aboriginal populations for this very reason, stating that it is unclear whether the federal government is funding a public program or an insurance mechanism [47]. Structuring public care as an insurance mechanism creates a quagmire in relation to what policy makers are pressured to respond to, meaning policy debates are often more reflective of insurance problems than they are of the challenges associated with a true public health program. In this regard, there has been an inversion of priorities in public programs. As previously mentioned, over the last 30 years, as the (private) dental profession pressured governments on the perceived shortcomings of public health programs, governments began to shift their funding from direct delivery to indirect delivery (Table 3.6). This means that most public care now functions in the form of a third-party financing mechanism, tending to marginalize the needs and preferences of the publicly insured compared to the majority clientele served in the vast majority of private dental offices. To add to this, there is a major disconnect between the preferences of private practitioners, who want public programs to function as private insurance mechanisms (i.e., little adjudication and oversight), and the preferences of marginalized groups, who have been shown to be more likely to prefer care delivered in a public rather than a private setting [48].

3.4.3 Dental Treatments Provided not Supported by Scientific Evidence

The aforementioned unclear policy logic has ramifications for treatments provided. For example, in the early 1980s, as governments looked for ways to contain costs, they began to limit public fee schedules. The first services to be limited or cut were clinical preventive services such as oral hygiene instruction/education, with governments noting that behavior change was much more complicated than, for instance, simply telling and showing someone how to brush their teeth. Over time, this extended to the number of units available for periodontal scaling (cleaning), and services such as molar root canal treatments. As a compromise, governments began to fund other services, of most importance being composite (white-coloured, "plastic" fillings) rather than amalgam (silver-coloured, metallic fillings) restorations, which were incorporated into public fee schedules in the 1990s.

Such an approach creates a provider incentive to deliver composite restorations because public fee schedules pay higher fees for composite than they do for amalgam restorations. The incentive becomes even stronger considering that public fee schedules

always pay less than professional fee schedules. Secondly, there is a patient incentive in relation to the preference for dental materials that are tooth-coloured and against a mercury-containing restorative material, which makes it increasingly controversial to use even if there is no evidence of deleterious effects of mercury in amalgam restorations. From the point of view of public programs, this is problematic in terms of costs and evidence-based care. Research has shown that composites are not the ideal choice of dental material in high caries populations, as they are more likely to fail and require re-treatment more often, and these are specifically the same populations that are often the purview of public programs [49]. As seen in Table 3.8, in two of Canada's largest public oral health care programs over a 10-year period, the number of amalgams delivered dropped substantially and was replaced with a concomitant increase in the number of composites. In both the Children In Need of Treatment program (CINOT), which finances care for children of low-income families in Ontario, and in the federal government's Non-Insured Health Benefits program (NIHB), which finances care for state-recognized aboriginal groups, the influence on expenditures is evident and has major implications for program sustainability.

Table 3.8 Ontario's Children in Need of Treatment (0–13 years) and Federal Non-Insured Health Benefits (all ages) programs, number of restorations and expenditures (\$000) on amalgam and composite resin restorations, fiscal years 1999/2000 and 2009/2010

	Fiscal year 1999/2000		Fiscal year	2009/2010	Percent difference 1999/2000 to 2009/2010		
	Numbers	Expenditures	Numbers	Expenditures	Numbers	Expenditures	
CINOT	39,145	\$1,695	18,972	\$956	-51.53%	-43.58%	
Amalgam							
CINOT	25,590	\$1,706	64,258	\$5,091	151.10%	198.36%	
Composite							
NIHB	151,258	\$9,310	70,724	\$6,470	-53.24%	-30.51%	
Amalgam							
NIHB	128,470	\$9,664	297,369	\$39,079	131.47%	304.37%	
Composite							

Sources: Nicolae et al., (2011) and Al-Rudainy (2010) [50, 51].

The lack of a consistent, evidence-based approach to the allocation of publicly funded oral health care services is clearly problematic. As described in section 6.6, there are lessons to be learned from around the world where publicly funded oral health care is based on explicit values of universality, targeting, age, or need, or where clear goals for the delivery of care have been set (i.e., prevention and the relief of pain and infection). Furthermore, by providing publicly funded care in piecemeal and haphazard ways, Canadian jurisdictions have created programs that are arguably unsustainable due to budgeting pressures associated with provider and patient expectations. Indeed, if the aim is to improve access to quality oral health care in ways that are responsive to vulnerable populations, that are efficient and effective, and can help in achieving social and economic gains, attention must be paid to the lack of rigour and consistency by which Canadian jurisdictions provide this important and fundamental health service.

3.4.4 Non-diversified Oral Health Care Settings and Workforce

The Canadian, ad hoc approach to publicly financed oral health care also results in an uncritical support for the status quo. In Canada, there are very limited options for service delivery environments and providers. There are numerous well-established methods of delivering oral health care beyond traditional Canadian service settings, and new experiments underway in the U.S. have shown that success is possible if creative thinking is used.

In the U.S., programs are in place delivering preventive care through non-dental providers, such as physicians, nurses, and community health workers [52, 53]. These programs have proven beneficial in terms of outcomes (both by improving health and decreasing resource consumption), and are reviewed in section 6.2. What is important is that serious consideration in Canada for using alterative oral health care providers is limited. In fact, one of the programs that Canada is most famous for internationally is dental therapy; while some U.S. states are now training such providers, the role and training of dental therapists in Canada is now at significant risk. Due to professional pressures and the economic recessions of the last thirty years, the only training program for dental therapy in Canada is now closed. In short, while the U.S. is diversifying its oral health care workforce to meet the needs of underserviced groups, Canada is moving in the opposite direction.

However, there are some unique developments. At the federal government level, a recent initiative in care for First Nations is the use of Children's Oral Health Initiative Aides as non-dental providers of preventive advice. Also, select provinces have recently adopted legislated independent dental hygiene practice (e.g., Ontario, Nova Scotia), giving dental hygienists the opportunity to provide services without the supervision of a dentist. One argument forwarded by dental hygiene's professional leadership is that independent dental hygienists will move into underserviced environments such as long-term care settings. As well, the argument has been put forth that this will drive competition in the oral health care market giving consumers greater choice and potentially decreasing dental service prices. Unfortunately though, no research has been conducted to confirm whether these arguments are correct. After all, it is not apparent that a private dental hygiene office is any more likely to be set up in an underserved, poor population/neighbourhood than is a private dentist office, especially given the current remuneration system.

In the context of exploring a more flexible and diversified use of dental and non-dental professionals to improve access to oral health care and reduce oral health inequalities, it is important to understand the different types of dental professionals that exist in

Canada (different definitions of the scope of practice exist in each provincial jurisdiction but the definitions below outline the common features of each profession):

- A dentist can perform all necessary acts to diagnose, treat, prevent, and otherwise manage all health conditions related to the teeth, mouth, and jaws;
- A dental therapist can perform certain activities such as identifying decay and dental abscesses, performing restorations, performing simple extractions, administering local anaesthesia, administering fluoride varnish and fissure sealants, and taking radiographs;
- A dental hygienist can communicate treatment plans and disease prevention information, perform supra- and sub-gingival scaling, take radiographs, and (depending on the jurisdiction) administer local anaesthesia;
- A denturist can make, fit, and repair removable dental prostheses (a denturist works directly with patients);
- A dental technician can make and repair dental prostheses (a dental technician works in a laboratory); and
- A dental assistant can assistant a dentist in the performance of his or her care for a patient, including the taking of radiographs.

3.4.5 Not Taxing Dental Benefits

Another gap in Canada's oral health care policy logic concerns employment-based dental benefits and the nature of taxation [8, 24, 39]. In Canada, these expenditures are not treated as employee income and hence do not attract income taxation, which is a direct incentive to the employer and employee. Yet this form of financing is completely inequitable in terms of the wealth-transfer principle in welfare states. This means that the insured pay for dental insurance premiums with pre-tax dollars, while the uninsured pay out-of-pocket for any dental care with after-tax dollars. Some have argued that this is highly irresponsible and unfair [8]. Apart from penalizing large segments of the population, it also contributes to poor international rankings on measures of equity and access to oral health care [13]. This also results in a significant level of foregone revenue that could, at least in theory, be used to finance care for underserviced groups [8]. As reported in the 2002 Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada, the foregone revenue in 1994 from providing employers and employees with tax breaks for the provision of private health and dental benefits was estimated at approximately \$1.5 billion dollars for all governments [54]. Finkelstein has noted the estimate at \$1.6 billion dollars in 1998 for the federal government alone, and argues that this only includes lost revenue from the tax subsidy for those above a certain income, and that the total loss in revenue may be much higher once foregone revenues from provincial and payroll taxes are considered [55]. Summarizing this issue, the Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada estimated the loss in revenue related to all health benefits, including dental insurance, for all governments to be approximately \$4 billion dollars.

3.4.6 The Emerging Context

A variety of factors make access to oral health care for vulnerable groups an important public health issue today. For example, the uneven nature of how oral disease is distributed in the population, as indicated by the concentration index (see section 2.1), suggests that governments and the dental professions should seriously reconsider how they will deal with the population's oral health now and into the future. Figure 3.7 indicates how, for instance, approximately 60 per cent of decayed teeth are concentrated in the poorest 36 per cent of the Canadian population.





Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007–2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data.

Now, more than ever, the significant minority of people that experiences the greatest burden of oral disease has the least recourse to care, as oral health care becomes more expensive and, as previously described, fewer options are available to receive publicly supported care. This has major implications for the well-being of these vulnerable populations in terms of their health, productivity, and quality of life, which in turn have implications for Canadian society in general.

Another important, emerging consideration is the well-known fact that the population is aging. The increasing numbers of people maintaining their teeth into old age, coupled with the increased care needs of those who become frail and dependent, are resulting in the emergence of an increased burden of disease and new challenges for providing

care. Currently, however, there appears to be no concerted effort at the professional or policy level to address this issue in an integrated and organized way.





Source: Adapted from Bhatti and Grootendorst 2007 [56].

There are also newer and subtler challenges emerging in terms of access to oral health care. For example, it is now known that the issue of access extends to "the working poor," or those individuals who work for low wages, but do not have jobs that provide dental insurance. In some cases, the working poor now have worse access to oral health care than their lowest income counterparts, as the latter have access to public insurance while the former do not [43, 57] (Figure 3.8). Similarly, evidence suggests that experiencing problems with accessing oral health care is now an issue for middle-income families, as they increasingly report cost barriers to using oral health care, and experience degradation in the quantity and quality of their employment-based dental insurance [44] (Figure 3.9, Figure 3.10, and Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.9 Perceived cost-barriers to dental care reported by Canadians according to income level, 1996–2009

Source: Adapted from Sadeghi (2012) [44].



Figure 3.10 Perceived cost-barriers to dental care reported by middle-income Canadians with and without dental insurance, 1996–2009

Source: Adapted from Sadeghi (2012) [18].



Figure 3.11 Prevalence of dental insurance among Canadians according to income level, 1996–2009

Source: Adapted from Sadeghi (2012) [18].

Environmental factors should also be considered. For example, community water fluoridation, the hallmark of the dental professional and societal approach to the prevention of dental caries, is being challenged in an increasing number of Canadian communities. Even though the evidence is positive in terms of its effectiveness, safety, and the ability of fluoride to reduce the gap in dental caries experience between the rich and poor [58], a number of municipalities in Canada have chosen to discontinue the practice of water fluoridation. This is happening through a combination of lobbying by anti-fluoridation groups and municipalities wanting to cut related maintenance costs. What is important here is that despite its benefits, water fluoridation is being discontinued with little to no consideration of the potential consequences, or of how the dental caries prevention options that could replace it (e.g., targeted fluoride therapies) will be enacted. There is also little to no discussion of how monies that were used for fluoridating water supplies could be reinvested for other oral disease prevention programs (e.g., subsidizing fluoridated toothpaste and toothbrushes).

All of these issues are also influenced by the growing competition for resources within governments, especially in light of the current economic challenges. Where can money be found to fund more access to oral health care? As this report describes, while this area remains largely unexplored, a significant amount of new funds may not be needed, as policymakers have not fully considered the issue of value-for-money in terms of the oral health care that governments currently pay for—as previously noted, there is no clear policy logic. It may be that more can be done with the resources currently being invested. Also, the question remains as to whether Canada is prepared to continue foregoing the treatment of oral diseases among vulnerable groups, given the potential implications for their general health and the health care system. For example, what are the economic implications of choosing to deliver publicly funded care for emergency

conditions, compared to not treating these diseases, before they impose their burdens on individuals and Canadian society?

3.4.7 Variations in Use of Resources/Standards/Principles of Oral Health Care Across Canada

As previously alluded to, Canada currently experiences a significant variation in the use of public oral health care resources. Depending on whom one is (e.g., child or adult, low income or no income, or level of disability) and where one is located (e.g., province or territory and in some cases the municipality), vulnerable populations have access to a variable and often very limited collection of oral health care goods and services. Unlike the role that the Canada Health Act plays for hospital and physician services, there is no overarching legislation that guides the financing and delivery of oral health care in Canada. This means that there are no national standards or principles that Canadian jurisdictions can look to for guiding the allocation of publicly financed oral health care. This leads to major gaps and variations in population coverage and in the services that are funded. It also means that the policy logic for publicly funded oral health care is unclear. Unlike other jurisdictions around the world where publicly funded oral health care is based on explicit values of universality, targeting, age or need, and where clear goals are set (i.e., prevention or the relief of pain and infection) [59-61], Canada has a rather implicit and unclear approach. As a result, publicly funded oral health care is provided in piecemeal and haphazard ways. Indeed, if the aim is to improve access to quality oral health care in ways that are responsive to vulnerable populations, are efficient and effective and that achieve social and economic gains, attention must be paid to the lack of rigour and consistency by which oral health care is provided.

4 THE DETERMINANTS OF ORAL HEALTH

The majority of the burden of oral disease and the most common oral diseases and health problems (e.g., dental decay, gum disease, and tooth loss) are chronic diseases or health problems. As such, they have broadly the same determinants as many other chronic diseases such as diabetes and heart disease or health problems like obesity and high blood pressure. Much has been written on this subject, but it is generally well accepted that the determinants of these chronic conditions are a complex array of factors, as illustrated in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1 Integrating the common risk factor approach into a social determinants framework

Source: Adapted from Watt & Sheiham 2012 [62].

Using the concentration index (CI) approach, a *decomposition analysis* can be performed to find those factors that explain the inequalities in oral health. Table 4.1 illustrates the contribution of socioeconomic factors, access to oral health care, and oral health behaviours to the inequalities in a variety of oral disease and oral health indicators.

Table 4.1 provides information on which to make several very important observations concerning inequalities in oral health in Canada:

• Poor health is concentrated in those with low income (as indicated by the negative signs), while a treatment indicator (filled teeth) is concentrated in higher income groups.

	Socioeconomic status % Contribution to Concentration index	Access to oral health care % Contribution to Concentration index	Oral health behaviours % Contribution to Concentration index	Total Inequality ^a Concentration index
Decayed teeth	32% ^b	45.1%	4.1%	-0.248
Missing teeth	51.4%	18.4%	4.1%	-0.158
Oral pain	49.6%	38.2%	5.3%	-0.131
Filled teeth	37.3%	12.6%	6.4%	0.069

Table 4.1 Decomposition of factors explaining the concentration of oral healthoutcomes in adults in poverty living in Canada

^a Inequality (the Concentration Index) is adjusted for age, sex, racial background, country of birth.

^b The percentage figure in each cell indicates the extent to which socioeconomic, access and behavioural factors contribute towards the total inequality in that disease or health indicator. Percentages in a row do not summate to 100 per cent, indicating that they explain less than 100 per cent of inequalities. The rest of inequalities are due to other factors contributing to the inequality that were not measured and addressed in the analyses.

Source: Created by the authors from the analyses of the 2007-2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey data

- Poor access to care accounts for 45 per cent of inequality in dental decay and 38 per cent of inequality in oral pain.
- Oral health-related behaviours such as tooth-brushing, flossing, and smoking make relatively small contributions to inequalities in health.
- Socioeconomic factors are important determinants of inequalities in oral health and oral health care.

Taken together, these observations suggest that policy makers, health care administrators, and public health practitioners, plus the dental and other health professions, should be addressing socioeconomic factors and access to oral health care if they want to reduce inequalities in these indicators. Although cross-sectional in nature, these data also suggest that interventions that encourage a change in behaviour—such as brushing one's teeth—will make little contribution to reducing inequalities in oral health in Canada. That is not to say that these behaviours are unimportant in determining the health of peoples' teeth and gums but a vast amount of documented research shows that social, environmental, and health system factors are more important determinants of many indicators of health and oral health care in Canada should target the oral health care delivery system and broad socioeconomic factors, more than individual behaviour change.

5 THE IMPACTS OF ORAL HEALTH AND DISEASE AND ORAL HEALTH CARE

This report has so far described the oral health and oral health care inequalities that exist in Canada and demonstrated the links of these phenomena with indicators of access to dental care. It has also described the health care systems that exist in Canada. The Panel has established the links between oral health inequalities and access to dental care and described the gaps and problems that exist in the current oral health care system. Before coming to conclusions concerning how best to address these issues, it is important to establish the impact these problems have on individuals and the whole population, as well as the potential for the benefits of providing oral health care. This chapter describes these impacts.

5.1 The Impacts of Poor Oral Health

In children, Jürgensen *et al.* have shown that active dental caries and total dental caries experience is associated with toothache, missing school, and impairments to daily life activities (eating, smiling, and sleeping) [63]. Blumenshine *et al.* demonstrated that children with both poor oral and general health are more than twice as likely than those without these problems to report poor school performance [64]. Similarly, Jackson *et al.* showed that children with poor oral health are nearly three times more likely to miss school as a result of dental pain than those in good oral health [65]. Importantly, these authors found that oral health status is associated with performance independent of pain (i.e., even if there was no dental or oral pain), meaning that as an end-point, pain is by far the extreme, with the threshold for impacts present much earlier when experiencing poor oral health.

Agou *et al.* have shown that even malocclusion (i.e., a problem with the way teeth and jaws bite together) has quality of life impacts on children and, more specifically, on children with low self-esteem [66]. Their study demonstrated that socioeconomic status is a significant mediator of quality of life impacts on these children. Using the same data, Locker further demonstrated that the worse the quality of life impact, the greater the effect on children of lower socioeconomic status [67]. Similarly, among adults, Locker found that income disparities in oral health-related quality of life outcomes remain after accounting for differences in levels of oral disease [68]. All of this implies that treating oral disease, especially among socioeconomically vulnerable populations, has the potential to decrease time lost from school and improve learning in children, and move individuals towards better health and psychological gains.

The impacts of poor oral health and the benefits of access to quality oral health care also extend into adulthood. For example, in terms of productivity, McGrath *et al.* found that among those with dental infection, one in five adults reported that they had to take time off work or study because of these problems [69]. Quiñonez *et al.* found that employed, low-income Canadians who reported chronic painful aching in their mouths were more likely than those without such pain to have experienced a disability day

(implying that they stayed in bed, did not work, or could not engage in normal activity) associated with a dental problem in the previous two weeks [70].

This bears out in system impacts as well. Governments and health care systems are affected by inefficient and ineffective allocation of resources when it comes to populations with poor oral health. Recent Canadian work has demonstrated the influence of poor access to oral health care on the health care system through the use of hospital emergency departments for dental conditions that are most effectively treated in regular oral health care settings [71]. This is an allocation issue, and one that extends to the use of physician offices as well [72]. Ultimately, if hospitalization occurs, costs can be extreme, and the pathway associated with this endpoint consumes societal resources not meant for oral health care that can be used for other illnesses best treated in hospital settings.

5.2 The Benefits of Good Oral Health Care

The benefits of quality oral health care can start very early. For example, in a study among Medicaid-enrolled children in the U.S., those children who had their first preventive dental visit before they were two years old were more likely to have subsequent preventive visits. They were less likely to have subsequent restorative or emergency visits compared to children who had their first preventive visit at the age of two or three years. The average dental-related costs for children who had received preventive care before the age of two years were approximately half of the costs for children who had received their first preventive care at the age of three to four years [73].

In terms of older adults, Locker has shown that dental treatment has a marked effect on their self-perceived oral health [74]. Following approximately 900 older adults over a three-year period, Locker found that those who reported their oral health as improving were far more likely to have made dental visits and received dental services. Other benefits of treatment included self-reported improvements in the ability to chew food, to maintain a nutritious diet, to socialize, to be free of pain, and ultimately to function successfully in daily life [74].

5.3 Oral Health and General Health

At present, much research is being performed into the links between oral and general health, covering domains such as the relationship between periodontal (gum) disease and diabetes, gum disease and cardiovascular disease, gum disease and childbirth outcomes, and gum disease and pneumonia. The nature of many of these relationships remains to be clarified, although the evidence for causal relationships between gum disease and diabetic control, and between gum disease and aspiration pneumonia in the frail elderly, is strong.

For example, Yoneyama *et al.* have shown that by providing oral care in long-term care settings, the risk of developing aspiration pneumonia is reduced [75]. They found that patients receiving oral care had fewer febrile days than patients not receiving oral care,

and that the removal of latent oral infections could reduce the incidence of lower respiratory tract infection [75]. The findings of this single study have been confirmed by those of a systematic review on the benefits of routine oral care in the prevention of aspiration pneumonia among the frail elderly [76].

In another important domain, a 2010 Cochrane review assessed seven randomized controlled trials on the treatment of periodontal disease for glycemic control. It concluded that periodontal therapy in individuals with diabetes helped to improve glycemic control and the subsequent management of diabetes [77]. It further recommended that periodontal therapy should be part of routine diabetes management.

In 2004, D'Aiuto *et al.* investigated the outcomes of periodontal therapy on changes in cardiovascular disease risk [78]. A total of 94 participants with severe periodontal disease received non-surgical periodontal therapy, with results showing that participants who responded to periodontal treatment were four times more likely to reduce their cardiovascular risk category. Elter *et al.* also discovered a decrease in inflammatory biomarkers plus improved brachial artery blood flow after 22 patients with periodontal disease were treated with scaling, root planning, and periodontal surgery [79]. Seinost *et al.* compared 30 individuals with severe periodontal disease with 31 healthy controls before and after non-surgical periodontal therapy interventions [80]. Results showed that periodontitis patients with favourable clinical responses to therapy exhibited substantial improvements in flow-mediated dilation of the brachial artery and reductions in inflammatory biomarkers. Most recently, using survey data prospectively linked to administrative data, de Oliveira *et al.* reported that those who reported poor oral hygiene (never/rarely brushed their teeth) had a 1.7 fold increased risk of a cardiovascular disease event [81].

Poor oral health is also causally linked to chronic pain, poor nutrition, impaired learning, and persistent infection, and it is strongly associated with arthritis and dementia [77, 81-87]. People with poor oral health also suffer from reduced dignity, self-respect, employability, and social connectedness, all of which have major health implications [88-90]. In short, the case is so strong that there really is no reason to consider oral and general health separately: health is health.

Ultimately, this case is based on three observations:

- The determinants of oral health problems are the same as or similar to other health problems (e.g., tobacco smoking causes oral cancer, gum disease, and multiple other health problems; excessive refined carbohydrate consumption contributes to dental decay, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, etc.; poverty increases the likelihood of dental decay, tooth loss, gum disease, and multiple other health problems).
- Oral (particularly periodontal) health is linked in a causal relationship with a number of diseases.
- The two most common oral diseases (dental decay and gum disease) are chronic infections that would benefit from non-surgical approaches used in medicine to deal with other chronic diseases.

This means that "oral health" is simply a phrase used by dental professionals to describe their domain of health care, just as psychiatrists use "mental health," and other health professionals use similar phrases to demarcate their expertise. While this is legitimate in some contexts, it emphasizes an approach focused on domains of expertise rather than a complete approach to the understanding of health and illness. Fundamentally, however, the oral illnesses experienced by Canadians are a manifestation of chronic exposure to a number of unhealthy factors—tobacco consumption, unhealthy diet, excessive alcohol consumption, the chronic stress of poverty and insecure work, and family and community environments. Ultimately, from an aetiological perspective and in terms of prevention, oral health is general health and requires the same approaches.

6 WHAT CAN BE DONE TO REDUCE INEQUALITIES IN ORAL HEALTH AND ORAL HEALTH CARE IN CANADA?

Given the policy and economic context of the new millennium, it is necessary for any health care, including publicly financed oral health care, to be evidence-based. Evidence exists for oral health care services, particularly preventive services, but surprisingly little exists for the benefits of one service environment over another. Nevertheless, this chapter describes the evidence where it is present, in an effort to promote value-formoney in relation to how we can improve oral health and access to oral health care in Canada.

6.1 Prevention in Children and Potential Impacts for Adults

There is a significant amount of evidence concerning the benefits of preventive modalities in oral health care. For example, the evidence behind community water fluoridation and clinical preventive therapies such as fluoride varnish is very strong. Since 1997, there have been 18 major reviews examining community water fluoridation, including an expert panel convened by Health Canada in 2007. These reviews have consistently found that fluoridation is effective in reducing the risk of tooth decay, and is the most cost-effective way of providing the benefits of fluoride to communities. A systematic review of the literature in 2000 concluded that "water fluoridation has an effect over and above that of fluoridated toothpaste (and other sources of fluoride)" [91].

Seven Cochrane systematic reviews on topical fluorides have also synthesized a large body of knowledge, and have demonstrated that all four topical fluoride modalities (fluoridated toothpaste, mouth-rinses, gels, and varnish) are effective, regardless of exposure to community water fluoridation. The prevented fractions (i.e., percentage caries reduction compared to those not using these interventions) were 24 per cent (fluoridated toothpaste), 26 per cent (mouth-rinses), 28 per cent (gels), and 46 per cent (varnish). Higher initial caries levels resulted in larger treatment effects as well, as did an increased frequency or concentration of the application [92].

The placement of resin-based sealants on the permanent molars of children and adolescents has also been shown to be effective for reduction in caries incidence. Reduction of caries incidence in children and adolescents after placement of sealants ranges from 86 per cent at one year to 78.6 per cent at two years and 58.6 per cent at four years [93, 94]. Caries reduction has been observed to be 65.4 per cent nine years from initial treatment, with no reapplication during the last five years [95].

These modalities are also cost-effective. Systematic reviews have demonstrated that despite varying costs of implementation and maintenance, community water fluoridation is cost-saving (i.e., saves money from a societal perspective and also reduces caries) [96]. For most cities, every \$1,000 invested in water fluoridation could save \$38,000 in dental treatment costs [97]. In terms of fluoride varnish (a

professionally applied form of fluoride therapy), for children three to six years of age, the cost per varnish application, including labour, is less than other professional topical fluoride applications and is generally more accepted by patients [98]. For sealants, cost-effectiveness depends on risk, meaning they have been predominantly shown to be cost-effective in high risk groups, especially when coupled with school-based provision [96].

There is also a business case to be made for prevention in non-dental settings [99, 100]. In North Carolina in the U.S., two innovative models of financing and delivering oral health care services have demonstrated significant returns. First, food security programming has introduced oral health education and dental referrals for low-income families and their children. Importantly, when compared to those children that do not receive the service, those involved in the program go to a dentist more often and end up consuming less costly oral health care over time. The intervention also reduced the amount of children's general anaesthetic care, which is very costly. The second program involves the financing of oral health education, screening, as well as referral, and fluoride varnish applications by physician- and nurses-aids in public and private practices. Strong evaluation has demonstrated results similar to the aforementioned food security program, confirming impacts on oral health care utilization and consumption over time.

Concentrating on children also has implications for adulthood and caregivers. For example, in the context of childhood oral disease, parental oral health habits significantly affect the oral health of children [101-103]. Caries-related habits established during infancy are generally maintained throughout childhood [104, 105] and into adolescence [106]. Since poor oral health habits can extend well into adulthood, it would seem reasonable that exposing the family, in particular primary caregivers, to oral health education and early preventive treatment holds intuitive benefit.

This is important, as the common wisdom surrounding oral health education at the individual and population level is that, in general, it is neither efficient nor effective [107-109]. That said, for high-risk populations in particular, the clinical effectiveness of early oral health education has been demonstrated in the socioeconomically challenged/high caries districts of Leeds and Glasgow in the United Kingdom [110, 111]. In this context, a preventive program was started with pregnant mothers and continued until children were six years of age, showing beneficial effects on the oral health of the children [112]. Prolonged benefits were found when the children were ten years of age as well [113]. Kowash *et al.* observed that the mothers of infants participating in the dental health education program also improved their own oral health-related habits [110].

Overall, early preventive care appears to be a sound strategy in the prevention of oral disease and the promotion of oral health. As described in section 6.2, in a study among Medicaid-enrolled children in the U.S., those children who had their first preventive dental visit before they were two years old were more likely to have subsequent preventive visits. They were less likely to have subsequent restorative or emergency visits compared to children who had their first preventive visit at the age of two or three

years. The average dental-related costs for children who had received preventive care before the age of one year were approximately half of the costs for children who had received their first preventive care at the age of three to four years [73]. Some studies in the Nordic countries further indicate that in populations with an overall low level of caries occurrence, early risk-based prevention can be effective in reducing both costs and dental caries in pre-school children, provided that the screening and preventive measures are delegated to preventive dental assistants [114-117].

6.2 The Residential or Long-term Care Setting

As previously reviewed, providing oral health care to individuals in long-term care settings has beneficial effects for their oral and general health. As previously referred to, Yoneyama *et al.* have shown that by providing oral care in long-term care settings, the risk of developing aspiration pneumonia can be reduced [75]. Nevertheless, provision of both professional and personal oral care in these environments is difficult. Few dental providers provide mobile dentistry or deliver care in long-term care settings, and organizational policies and processes are difficult to establish and maintain [118, 119].

It is argued that an interdisciplinary approach that includes nurses, physicians, occupational therapists, and speech language pathologists in addition to dental hygienists, denturists, and dentists will improve knowledge and awareness and move oral health practices closer to best practice [120]. It is also recognized that unregulated health care providers, friends, families, and clients also contribute and should be included in this team approach [120]. In this regard, the Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario [120] and the Canadian Dental Association [121] suggest similar long- and short-term strategies to improve oral health and access to care for seniors. These strategies include:

- Educating seniors, families, and caregivers on the importance of maintaining good oral health.
- Developing mandatory oral health standards in long-term care facilities for daily oral care and annual access to professional care.
- Supporting collaboration among health care providers to promote oral health as part of overall health.
- Creating single point entry assessment instruments that include oral health when determining continuing care service needs.
- Supporting tax-based (income-tested) dental benefits for seniors in long-term care facilities and seniors with low incomes.
- Supporting training for facility staff on geriatric dentistry.
- Allocating space on-site with the appropriate dental equipment to provide preventive, surgical, and restorative care.

6.3 Poverty and Public Options

Historically, Canadian governments have supported oral health care for low-income individuals through the financing of direct and indirect delivery options, and through subsidies to middle- and high-income individuals through tax-support for non-wage benefits. Unfortunately though, as has been demonstrated in previous chapters of this report, this is insufficient to meet everyone's needs, resulting in significant gaps in care.

It can therefore be argued that there is a need to provide a more robust public option for those that cannot afford care in private dental practices. Right now, there are little to no public options available, even though recent research has shown that the lower a person's income, the greater the preference to access care in public, community health centre-type settings [48]. This is also supported by the fact that dentists in general are not satisfied with the fees paid to them by public programs, and sometimes are not willing to see publicly insured patients both because of these fees and their associated administration, and because of the qualities they perceive as problematic in these individuals (e.g., a lack of self-care, regularly missing appointments) [48, 122]. In this regard, renewed emphasis on direct delivery is arguably warranted.

In terms of tax subsidies for private health and dental plans, they already exist in Canada for unincorporated self-employed individuals. Yet this option needs to be promoted more broadly. That said, oral health care can still remain out of reach for many working poor families, and as above, broadening the base of public support for these families is also important.

The issue of fair financing also leads to considering the option of taxing supplementary health and dental benefits as is done in Quebec. This creates one potential source for funding expanded public programs aimed at those without insurance and those that experience difficulties in accessing oral health care. As reported in the 2002 Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada, the estimated loss in revenue for all governments is approximately \$4 billion dollars [54]. There are risks to this approach. The political costs might be significant, as the upper and middle class—who are the main recipients of supplementary health and dental benefit plans—may consider this a difficult tax benefit to lose. The dental profession may reject this proposal, noting the risk of reducing non-wage offers by employers and the rejection of these offers for straight cash by employees. For example, Finkelstein [55] has shown that after Quebec reduced the tax subsidy to employer-provided supplementary health and dental benefits by almost 60 per cent, there was a decrease of about one fifth in all supplementary benefits coverage as a result, and that the greatest impact was borne by smaller firms. For dentistry specifically, the drop ranged from six to eight per cent. Finkelstein also tested a smaller 1993 reform in Ontario, where the government imposed an eight per cent sales tax on group health and dental benefits. In this case, the drop ranged from four to eight per cent. Ultimately, from what is known about the potential new challenges in accessing oral health care among the middle class, the impacts of any reforms would have to be carefully studied. At the very least, they deserve serious attention and debate.

6.4 Administration and Payment in Public Programs

With so much professional dissatisfaction concerning the administrative processes and fees paid by public programs, governments could explore the potential to improve this aspect of their programs. Research suggests that rate increases for providers improve access to oral health care, but importantly, they are also not sufficient on their own. Easing administrative processes and engaging private dentists and patients as active partners in program improvement are also core elements of reforms. In the early 2000s, U.S. states such as Alabama, Michigan, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, Indiana, and Washington introduced improved provider reimbursement—even doubling rates paid to providers in some cases—resulting in increased dentist participation and the number of patients treated by at least one third in the first two years. The fee increases, however, took place in the context of other administrative modifications that included improving supportive services and education and building partnerships with state dental societies [123, 124]. This is an area where mutually working on the often somewhat combative relations between government agencies and dental professional bodies could result in improved services for all stakeholders.

6.5 Making Oral Health Care Universal

Dental insurance or having coverage for the cost of dental care is the most dominant predictor of utilizing and accessing oral health care [7]. Research has shown that providing coverage has significant effects for those with low or no incomes. For example, Long showed that in one U.S. state, after the restoration of dental and other health benefits through Medicaid, the share of adults reporting high out-of-pocket costs and problems paying medical and dental bills dropped, those that reported not accessing oral health care because of cost decreased, and the number of low-income adults with a dental care visit increased [125]. In Thailand, which recently implemented universal financing for oral health care, Somkotra and Detsomboonrat showed that after implementation, there was an increased likelihood among the poor to access and utilize oral health care services at public and private facilities [126].

In Canada, the principle of universal coverage could be applied to oral health care, making it part of the national system of health insurance. This could be done wholly or partially, meaning coverage for the same "basket of services" could be extended to everyone, or a "small basket of oral health care services" could be extended to everyone with a more robust set of services extended to those who are deemed at risk. Nevertheless, while feasible, there are barriers to this approach in terms of international law, as agreements such as the *North American Free Trade Agreement* impose financial penalties for the appropriation of privately existing services into public authority (i.e., compensation would have to be paid to private corporations). At the very least, this could stimulate Canada to think about national standards for the delivery of publicly financed oral health care, an issue that is addressed below.

6.6 Allocation of Oral Health Care Services

Outcomes could be improved by having a more logical way of providing publicly financed oral health care to vulnerable populations. Dental care is currently haphazard and provided in a piecemeal fashion. If national standards and principles were agreed to by provinces and territories, a similar "basket of oral health care services" covering the medically necessary aspects of oral disease could be available across the country. This might be difficult to achieve as a result of the nature of Canadian governance and because few, if any, attempts have been made to determine what services should be covered. However, as a suggestion, such a set of services and interventions for minimum care could include those aimed at:

- The relief of pain and infection;
- The prevention of oral disease in children, pregnant women, and the institutionalized elderly; and



• The restoration of function.



Note: *Other included drug addicts, homeless, unemployed, incarcerated & military persons

Sources: Gift & Andersen (2007), Kravitz & Treasure (2009), Widström & Eaton (2004), Vanobbergen (2007), Holst (2007), and Steele (2009) [59-61, 127, 128].

A review of European Union countries demonstrates that many fund universal systems for health care (including oral health care) through general taxation or through compulsory contributions by employers and employees to national health insurance or "sickness" funds. Oral health care programs are either universal, or they prioritize populations (Figure 6.1), often identifying these populations explicitly, and providing robust public service delivery options. In Canada, none of this is done. In some cases, these countries also identify the issues that services are intended to address (Figure 6.2), in effect defining principles for why they publicly finance oral health care (e.g., prevention, relief of pain, and infection); again, Canada falls short with its implicit approach. Ultimately, having a set of services and interventions for minimally acceptable care, and being specific about who should be eligible for these services, would move Canada's provinces and territories in the direction of standards for publicly financed oral health care, thus minimizing the lack of consistency across the provinces and territories.



Figure 6.2 Service themes by numbers of countries in which they were identified (in most cases, services regarded as supporting and maintaining function as well as aesthetics were supported to a limited extent only)

Sources: Gift & Andersen (2007), Kravitz & Treasure (2009), Widström & Eaton (2004), Vanobbergen (2007), Holst (2007), and Steele (2009) [59-61, 127, 128].

6.7 Diversifying the Oral Health Care Workforce

Alternative means of dental service provision have proven beneficial, as previously noted in this report. The dental therapy model in Canada is the best example of this; however, this model of care is almost defunct [129]. This is unfortunate, as the dental therapy model, which is aimed at providing basic oral health care to children and emergency care to adults, has been shown to be successful. It could provide a model for improving access to many child populations beyond the limited jurisdiction in which it is currently allowed (i.e., Aboriginal reserves, the three territories, and Saskatchewan and Manitoba) [129, 130].
Indeed, the effectiveness of dental therapists was well documented early on, putting to rest professional criticisms on productivity and quality. For example, taking into account training, employment costs, and the annual value of services provided by dental therapists, one dental therapy position would pay for itself, at a minimum, in 2.2 years [131]. In fact, a cohort of four consecutive graduating classes paid for themselves in 3.5 years [132]. Furthermore, when compared to dentists in the same region, dental therapists had significantly higher mean quality level scores across basic restorative services [133]. When controlling for complexity, such quality continued to favour dental therapists [132]. Finally, from 1974 to 1980, the Saskatchewan Dental Health Plan was credited with controlling dental caries among the province's youth by reducing its incidence by approximately 25 per cent [134]. In the U.S., similar evidence more recently indicates that the work of "dental restorative auxiliaries" is as good as that of dentists [135]. In addition to the use of dental therapists, it should be possible to explore the use of dental hygienists in the delivery of fluoride varnish and fissure sealants, for example.

The involvement of other health and social service providers is also beneficial from the point of view of the common risk factor approach [136]. The clustering of risk factors for chronic diseases frequently occurs in the same individuals. For example, individuals who smoke are more likely to eat a diet that is high in fats and sugars but low in fibre, polyunsaturated fatty acids, fruit, and nutrient rich foods. They are also more likely to drink alcohol than non-smokers. These are all contributing factors to dental disease as well as several other chronic illnesses. This clustering of healthy or unhealthy behaviours suggests that preventive approaches should be directed at clusters of risk factors common to a number of diseases and the social structures that influence an individual's health. Nevertheless, in Canada, the integration of oral health (and oral health care) into the health care sphere has been slow if not absent. In the U.S., the factors influencing inadequate, poorly integrated oral health services in primary care have been noted to include private and third-party insurance for these services, inadequate public funding, workforce capacity constraints for underserviced populations, and a historical belief that oral health is secondary to overall health status [137].

Little research has actually been conducted to assess the benefits and health outcomes of patients cared for through collaborative team approaches [138]. Only one study on integrated primary dental and medical care was found, which showed that it can increase the amount of care patients receive, avoid discrepancies in patient information, and reduce the need for secondary referrals [139]. Taking a step back, however, it is important to note that oral health has had limited integration into medical education overall [140]. There are very few formal medical education and residency programs related to oral health, with many medical school graduates having inadequate training about oral diseases, risks for oral diseases, or instruction in the examination of the oral tissues [141]. Also, a systematic review [52] reported that there were no studies on the accuracy of primary care providers in identifying children aged zero to five years at elevated risk for future dental caries. However, three studies [142-144] found that after two to five hours of training, physicians and nurses were able to perform oral screenings with a similar accuracy to that of dentists, and these screenings were suitable for the purposes of referral for a complete evaluation by a dentist. It is important to note that school-based screening and treatment programs also offer advantages for innovative, integrated approaches to improving the oral health of children. For example, delivering services in a location where children are grouped together and regularly attend (e.g., day care) may remove many of the barriers faced by low-income children and their parents [130, 145, 146].

6.8 The Role of Dental Education

The challenge of access to oral health care is partly a cultural issue [130, 147]. Like other professions, the dental professions have cultures and models of care that privilege those with dental insurance and those that can pay for oral health care without major difficulty. In this regard, efforts are needed to improve the willingness of dentists to treat low income populations by educating them in ways that address the specific challenges associated with these groups, and attempts to change the nature of their cultural indoctrination.

Importantly, undergraduate dental competencies recognize the needs of disadvantaged groups and the connection between oral and general health. The competencies of the National Dental Examining Board, the organization responsible for establishing and maintaining a national standard of competence for dentists in Canada, recognize that (among other competencies) "[a] beginning dental practitioner in Canada must be competent to:

- Recognize the determinants of oral health in individuals and populations and the role of dentists in health promotion, including the disadvantaged;
- Recognize the relationship between general health and oral health; and
- Demonstrate professional behaviour that is ethical, supersedes self-interest, strives for excellence, is committed to continued professional development and is accountable to individual patients, society and the profession."

Nevertheless, there is no specific mention of access to oral health care, and the achievement of equity in access cannot simply depend on the good actions of dental professionals. It must involve structural changes to dental education and to the oral health care system.

Across dental faculties globally, this has meant a stronger emphasis on public health and community education, whereby the issue of equity is given a stronger voice, and the training of dental students, while occurring in traditional "dental school teaching clinics," is increasingly being shifted to the community, usually in under-serviced areas. Whether this leads to a professional who is more aware of, and open to, contributing to reductions in health and health care inequalities is largely unknown. However, a study comparing students who experienced outreach situations to those in the traditional main clinic setting suggested that outreach experiences improved students' confidence in tackling clinical situations [148]. One study suggested that outreach situations help students develop a more nuanced understanding of the complexity of the determinants of oral health [149]. Another study reported that young clinicians who as students experienced outreach situations felt that it was beneficial to their practice careers [150]. Whatever the case, in the end, an effort to change the cultural prerogatives of the dental profession will ultimately begin at its educational roots.

Furthermore, it is clear that if dentists are to provide dental care to under-served populations in non-traditional settings using alternative techniques, then dental schools have important responsibilities. They need to provide relevant training at both the undergraduate and postgraduate levels. They also need to collaborate with licensing bodies through the provision of appropriately accredited continuing education in these areas.

7 VISION, CORE PROBLEMS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Given the contents of this report, the Panel has decided to outline a vision for oral health care in Canada, the core problems identified by the report and a collection of recommendations that are intended to provide a framework by which to address these problems. The stakeholders targeted by this report, and those who the Panel wishes to act on the recommendations, include:

- Federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal governments and governmental agencies;
- The dental professions, including dental professional regulatory bodies, professional associations, dental education, and research institutions, and other forms of "organized dentistry;"
- Physicians, nurses, and other health care professionals that regularly care for vulnerable groups; and
- The organizations or advocacy groups that represent vulnerable groups in Canada.

7.1 A Vision for Oral Health Care in Canada

The Panel envisages equity in access¹ to oral health care for all people living in Canada.

¹ By equity in access, the Panel means reasonable access, based on need for care, to agreed-upon standards of preventive and restorative oral health care

7.2 The Core Problems Identified in this Report

The following major issues have emerged from the Panel's investigation in relation to oral health and oral health care in Canada:

- Many low income, and even middle income, Canadians suffer from pain, discomfort, disability, and loss of opportunity because of poor oral health.
- Approximately six million Canadians avoid visiting the dentist every year because of the cost.
- There are significant income-related inequalities in oral health and inequity in access to oral health care.
- Those with the highest levels of oral health problems are also those with the greatest difficulty accessing oral health care.
- Income-related inequalities in oral health are greater than income-related inequalities in general health indicators.
- Income-related inequalities in oral health are greater in women than men.
- Inequalities in access to dental care are contributing to inequalities in oral health.

- Oral health is part of general health, with the same social, economic, and behavioural determinants, and with direct links between poor oral and poor general health.
- The vast majority of dental care is provided in the private sector, with only approximately six per cent of expenditure on dental care in the public sector.
- Private sector dentistry is providing good quality oral health care for a majority of people living in Canada, but it is not a good model of health care provision for the vulnerable groups who suffer the highest levels of oral health problems.
- There is no consensus on standards of oral health care provision among federal, provincial, territorial and municipal governments in Canada. The small proportion of publically-funded oral health care services provided across the country varies enormously between jurisdictions.
- There is no consensus among federal, provincial, territorial and municipal governments across Canada on the use of a range of dental and other health care professionals that might improve access to oral health care services, particularly for groups suffering the greatest burden of oral diseases.
- In Canada, tax legislation helps reduce the financial burden of dental care for those with private dental insurance. Those without such insurance do not have this benefit, yet these are the groups with the highest levels of disease and the greatest difficulty accessing dental care.

These issues can be distilled to the following core problems:

- Vulnerable groups living in Canada have both the highest level of oral health problems and the most difficulty accessing oral health care; and
- The public and private oral health care systems in Canada are not effective in providing reasonable access to oral health care for all vulnerable people living in Canada.

7.3 Recommendations to Address the Core Problems and Achieve the Vision

The recommendations designed to address the core problems identified in this report are grouped into a framework that provides a logical order of priority, proceeding as follows:

- A. Communicate with relevant stakeholders concerning the core problems raised in the report.
- B. Establish appropriate standards of preventive and restorative oral health care to which all people living in Canada should have reasonable access.
- C. Identify the health care delivery systems and the personnel necessary to provide these standards of oral health care.

- D. Identify how provision of these standards of preventive and restorative oral health care will be financed.
- E. Identify the research and evaluation systems that monitor the effects of putting these recommendations into place.

As an aid to making progress, the Panel also identified groups that should be acting on the recommendations, either within the wording of the recommendations or identified at the end of each one. The recommendations are therefore expanded as follows:

A. Communicate with relevant stakeholders concerning the core problems, to enable mutual understanding of the report's findings and initiate discussions to address the recommendations.

- i. Communicate the findings of this report with representatives of relevant vulnerable groups and obtain their input to contextualize them.
- ii. Communicate the findings of this report with relevant dental and other health care professional groups and obtain their input to contextualize them.
- iii. Communicate the findings of this report with relevant federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal government agencies and obtain their input to contextualize them.
- iv. Communicate the findings of this report with relevant private sector stakeholders (e.g., health insurance companies) and obtain their input to contextualise them.

B. Engage with relevant decision-making, professional, and client/patient groups to develop evidence-based standards of preventive and restorative oral health care to which all people living in Canada have reasonable access.

- i. Engage vulnerable groups and their representation as partners in order to identify their needs for standards of oral health care.
- ii. Engage with the dental professions to identify their views on what evidencebased standards of oral health care should be.
- iii. Engage with federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal government and other public agencies to identify their views on what agreed-upon standards of oral health care should be.

C. Plan the personnel and delivery systems required to provide these standards of oral health care to diverse groups, in a variety of settings, with particular attention to vulnerable groups.

i. Create or enhance public options for oral health care in alternative service settings, such as community health centres, institutions for elderly people who are non- and semi-autonomous, long-term care settings for those with handicaps, etc. (Targets: community health centres; centres for the elderly and those with handicaps.)

- ii. Deliver simple, preventive oral health care for children in non-dental settings and dental offices so that children get a good start in life. (*Targets: pediatric dentists, physicians, nurses and other pediatric health professionals; dental hygienists; preschool institutions; primary schools.*)
- iii. Develop domiciliary and other "outreach" oral health care for those with difficulties accessing private dental offices or community services, for example, on-site services for the institutionalized elderly. (*Targets: geriatricians, dentists and other health professionals caring for the elderly; dental hygienists; institutions for the elderly and handicapped.*)
- iv. Renew the role of dental therapy, review the use of dental hygienists, and explore the use of alternative providers of oral health care to ensure that cost-effective care is provided in settings not currently served by dental professionals. (Target: provincial governments; dental regulatory bodies; dental therapists; dental hygienists.)
- v. Provide explicit training for oral health care professionals in versatile approaches to oral health care delivery for a variety of vulnerable groups. (Targets: Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry [ACFD]; dental schools; dental hygiene colleges; Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada.)
- vi. Promote and deliver continuing education that equips practicing professionals with the knowledge and skills to understand and treat the oral health care needs of vulnerable groups. (Targets: dental schools; dental hygiene colleges; Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation; provincial dental regulatory bodies.)
- vii. Promote the inclusion of relevant oral health and oral health care training in non-dental training programs, such as medicine and nursing. (Targets: Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing; Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada.)
- D. Review and provide the financing of necessary personnel and systems and create mechanisms to ensure the availability and prioritization of funds for the provision of agreed-upon standards of oral health care.
 - i. Establish more equity in the financing of oral health care by developing policy to promote dental insurance that promotes evidence-based practice among all employers, employees, and self-employed people, including those working in non-traditional work arrangements. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; insurance companies; employers' associations; workers' associations; unions.*)
 - ii. Review the legislation concerning tax treatment for employment-based dental insurance to address the lack of tax benefits for those without

insurance. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; employers' associations; workers' associations; unions*)

- iii. Review the fees paid for oral health care to ensure that they are fair for both provider and patient, and incentivize the provision of care based on evidence. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; dental profession.*)
- iv. Prioritize the financing of interventions where there is strong evidence of therapeutic effect and social gain (e.g., community water fluoridation and fluoride varnish), with disinvestment from interventions where there is weak or no evidence of effectiveness (e.g., routine teeth scaling in healthy individuals) or evidence of more effective and efficient alternatives. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; dental profession; ACFD; dental schools.*)

E. Monitor and evaluate publically funded oral health care systems that are designed to improve access to agreed-upon standards of care for all people living in Canada.

- i. Create effective data collection and information systems for use in answering policy-relevant questions, using appropriate outcome indicators. (Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; Canadian Institutes of Health Research [CIHR]; ACFD; dental schools; dental profession.)
- ii. Develop a more integrated approach to generating and translating knowledge into evidence to provide more effective oral health care for vulnerable groups. Government agencies, health care professionals, researchers, educators, and those representing the client groups and organizations involved in care need to create networks to enable the development, implementation, and evaluation of standards of care. (*Targets: federal, provincial, and territorial governments; CIHR; ACFD; dental professions; client group representatives; insurance companies*)

8 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Penchansky, R. and J.W. Thomas, *The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction.* Med Care, 1981. 19(2): p. 127-40.
- 2. Mechanic, D. and J. Tanner, *Vulnerable people, groups, and populations: societal view.* Health Aff (Millwood), 2007. 26(5): p. 1220-30.
- 3. World Health Organization: Health Impact Assessment (HIA), Glossary of terms used; Retrieved from <u>http://www.who.int/hia/about/glos/en/index1.html</u>.
- 4. Wagstaff, A., P. Paci, and E. Vandoorslaer, *On The Measurement Of Inequalities In Health.* Social Science & Medicine, 1991. 33(5): p. 545-557.
- 5. Clarke, P.M., U.G. Gerdtham, and L.B. Connelly, *A note on the decomposition of the health concentration index.* Health Econ, 2003. 12(6): p. 511-6.
- 6. Wagstaff, A., E. van Doorslaer, and N. Watanabe, *On decomposing the causes of health sector inequalities with an application to malnutrition inequalities in Vietnam.* Journal of Econometrics, 2003. 112(1): p. 207-223.
- 7. *Report on the findings of the oral health component of the Canadian health measures survey, 2007-2009.* 2010; vii, 111 p.]. Available from: <u>http://dsp-psd.pwgsc.gc.ca/collections/collection 2010/sc-hc/H34-221-2010-eng.pdf.</u>
- 8. Leake, J.L., *Why do we need an oral health care policy in Canada?* J Can Dent Assoc, 2006. 72(4): p. 317.
- 9. Hart, J.T., *The inverse care law.* Lancet, 1971. 1(7696): p. 405-12.
- 10. *Department of Justice; Canada Health Act. 1984, c. 6, s. 1.*; Available from: <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-6/index.html#docCont</u>.
- 11. Allin, S., *Does equity in healthcare use vary across Canadian provinces?* Healthcare Policy, 2008. 3(4): p. 83-99.
- 12. Grignon, M., et al., *Inequity in a market-based health system Evidence from Canada's dental sector.* Health Policy, 2010. 98(1): p. 81-90.
- 13. Van Doorslaer, E. and C. Masseria, *Income-related inequality in the use of medical care in 21 OECD countries.* Towards high-performing health systems: policy studies, 2004. 434: p. 107.
- 14. Adams, T.L., *A Dentist and a Gentleman: Gender and the Rise of Dentistry in Ontario.* 2000: Univ of Toronto Pr.
- 15. Gullett, D., *A history of dentistry in Canada.* Journal of the Canadian Dental Association, 1971. 37(6): p. 210.
- 16. *Canadian Dental Association. A Submission to the Royal Commission on Dominion-Provincial Relations*, 1938, Canadian Dental Association Ottawa.
- 17. Canadian Dental Association. Presentation on the subject of National Health Insurance for dentistry in Canada. Journal of the Canadian Dental Association 8: 430-32., 1942, Canadian Dental Association

- 18. Quiñonez, C., et al., *An environmental scan of provincial/territorial dental public health programs.* Community Dental Health Services Research Unit, University of Toronto. Retrieved Feb, 2010. 26.
- 19. Quiñonez, C., et al., *An environmental scan of publicly financed dental care in Canada.* Community Dental Health Services Research Unit and Office of the Chief Dental Officer, Health Canada. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.fptdwg.ca/English/e-environmental.html</u>, 2005.
- 20. Quiñonez, C., et al., *Public dental care in Canada: Current status of programs, community water fluoridation, and outreach activities in dental faculties. Office of the Chief Dental Officer, Health Canada.* 2008.
- 21. *National health expenditure trends, 1975–2011.* 2011; Available from: https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?locale=en&pf=PFC1671.
- 22. Bedford, W.R., *The role of government*. J Can Dent Assoc, 1986. 52(1): p. 68.
- 23. Stamm, J., et al., *Dental care programs in Canada: historical development, current status, and future directions—A report prepared on contract for the Department of National Health and Welfare, Canada.* Ottawa (ON): Canadian Government Publishing Centre, 1986.
- 24. Quinonez, C. and P. Grootendorst, *Equity in dental care among Canadian households.* International Journal for Equity in Health, 2011. 10.
- 25. *Access to Care: Health in a Glance 2011: OECD Indicators.*, 2011, Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD): Paris.
- 26. Parkin, D. and N. Devlin, *Measuring efficiency in dental care. In Scott A, Maynard A, and Elliott R (Eds.) Advances in Health Economics, p. 143-66. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.* 2003.
- 27. Birch, S. and R. Anderson, *Financing and delivering oral health care: what can we learn from other countries?* J Can Dent Assoc, 2005. 71(4): p. 243, 243a-243d.
- 28. Sabbah, W. and J.L. Leake, *Comparing characteristics of Canadians who visited dentists and physicians during 1993/94: a secondary analysis.* J Can Dent Assoc, 2000. 66(2): p. 90-5.
- 29. Blackwell, T., *Extend dental coverage, doctors urge.* The National Post, 2007.
- Welsh, M., *Health minister silent on dental care.* The Toronto Star, February
 23. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.thestar.com/News/article/184960</u>,
 2007.
- 31. Welsh, M., *Plunged into darkness.* The Toronto Star, April 28. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.thestar.com/News/article/208344</u>, 2007.
- 32. Enhanced benefits for seniors announced. News Release, August 11. Edmonton: Government of Alberta. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.gov.ab.ca/acn/200408/1691214888E74-8CDC-4F8B-</u> <u>A67FA592A32300BB.html</u>, 2004, Government of Alberta

- 33. The Ontario Liberal Plan, 2007 costing summary. Toronto: Speech from the Throne, Government of Ontario. Ontario Liberal Party of Canada . Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.ontarioliberal.ca/upload/dir/CostingMovingForwardTogetherEn</u> <u>glish.pdf</u> 2007, Ontario Liberal Party of Canada
- 34. Enhanced dental program benefits British Columbians. News Release, March 14, 2005HSER0027-000290, Vancouver: Ministry of Health Services, Ministry of Human Resources. Government of British Columbia. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www2.news.gov.bc.ca/nrm_news_releases/2005HSER0027-000290.htm</u>, 2005, Government of British Columbia
- 35. Government announces improvements to children's dental program. News Release, August 23. St. John's: Health and Community Services. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.releases.gov.nl.ca/releases/2006/health/0823n01.htm</u>, 2006, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador.
- 36. Lower paediatric dental wait times. News Release, November 10. Winnipeg: Manitoba Health. Government of Manitoba. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/press/top/2005/11/2005-11-10-02.html</u>, 2005, Government of Manitoba
- 37. Chief Dental Officer for Health Canada. News Release, October 28. Ottawa: Government of Canada. Retrived Feb 2012, from: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/nr-cp/2005/2005 dent e.html</u>, 2005, Government of Canada
- 38. *Canadian Dental Association. Submission to the Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada*, 2001, Canadian Dental Association Ottawa.
- 39. *Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Putting our money where our mouth is: The future of dental care in Canada*, 2011, Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives: Ottawa.
- 40. *Canadian Dental Hygienists Association, Access angst: A CDHA position paper on access to oral health services,* 2003, Canadian Dental Hygienists Association: Ottawa.
- 41. Brief to the Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada, 2002, A Report of the Toronto Dental Coalition: Toronto.
- 42. Federal/Provincial/Territorial Dental Directors. Oral health: Its place in a sustainable health care system for Canadians, Brief to the Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada, 2002, Federal/Provincial/Territorial Dental Directors: Ottawa.
- 43. Quinonez, C. and R. Figueiredo, *Sorry doctor, I can't afford the root canal, I have a job: Canadian dental care policy and the working poor.* Can J Public Health, 2010. 101(6): p. 481-5.

- 44. Sadeghi, L. *Trends in Access to Dental Care among Middle-Class Canadians* (2012); Master of Science thesis, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Toronto. Available from: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/32276.
- 45. Wikler, D., *Personal and social responsibility for health.* Ethics & International Affairs, 2002. 16(2): p. 47-55.
- 46. National Health Organizations Call On Minister Kenney To Rescind Planned Cancellation Of Health Benefits To Refugee Claimants; Ottawa, May 18, 2012 2012; Available from: <u>http://www.cda-</u> <u>adc.ca/en/cda/media room/news releases/2012/051812.asp</u>.
- 47. Quiñonez, C.R. and J.G. Lavoie, *Existing on a Boundary: The Delivery of Socially Uninsured Health Services to Aboriginal Groups in Canada.* Humanity & Society, 2009. 33(1-2): p. 35-55.
- 48. Quinonez, C., et al., *Public preferences for seeking publicly financed dental care and professional preferences for structuring it.* Community Dent Oral Epidemiol, 2010. 38(2): p. 152-8.
- 49. Bernardo, M., et al., *Survival and reasons for failure of amalgam versus composite posterior restorations placed in a randomized clinical trial.* J Am Dent Assoc, 2007. 138(6): p. 775-83.
- 50. Al-Rudainy, O., C. Quiñonez, and S. Bennett, A look at the Children In Need of Treatment Program from 1990 to 2009. Ministry of Health Promotion and Sport, Government of Ontario. 2010.
- 51. Nicolae, A., et al., An analysis of the relationship between urinary mercury levels and the number of dental amalgam restoration surfaces in the Canadian population. Office of the Chief Dental Officer, Health Canada.
- 52. Bader, J.D., et al., *Physicians' roles in preventing dental caries in preschool children: a summary of the evidence for the US Preventive Services Task Force.* American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2004. 26(4): p. 315-325.
- 53. Rozier, R.G., et al., *Prevention of early childhood caries in North Carolina medical practices: implications for research and practice.* J Dent Educ, 2003. 67(8): p. 876-85.
- 54. Romanow, R.J., *Building on Values [electronic Resource]: the Future of Health Care in Canada*. 2002: Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada.
- 55. Finkelstein, A., *The effect of tax subsidies to employer-provided supplementary health insurance: evidence from Canada.* Journal of Public Economics, 2002. 84(3): p. 305-339.
- 56. Bhatti, T., Z. Rana, and P. Grootendorst, *Dental insurance, income and the use of dental care in Canada.* Journal of the Canadian Dental Association, 2007. 73(1): p. 57-+.

- 57. Muirhead, V.E., et al., *Predictors of dental care utilization among working poor Canadians.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2009. 37(3): p. 199-208.
- 58. Riley, J.C., M.A. Lennon, and R.P. Ellwood, *The effect of water fluoridation and social inequalities on dental caries in 5-year-old children.* International Journal of Epidemiology, 1999. 28(2): p. 300-305.
- 59. Widstrom, E. and K.A. Eaton, *Oral healthcare systems in the extended European union*. Oral Health Prev Dent, 2004. 2(3): p. 155-94.
- 60. Holst, D., Varieties of Oral Health Care Systems-Public Dental Services: Organisation and financing of Oral Care Services in the Nordic countries. Chapter 18b in Pine, C.(Ed) Community Oral Health. (2nd ed). London: Quintessence Publishing Ltd.; 2007.
- 61. Kravitz, A. and E. Treasure. *Manual of Dental Practice. The Council of European Dentists.* 2009; Available from: <u>http://www.eudental.eu/index.php?ID=35918&</u>.
- 62. Watt, R.G. and A. Sheiham, *Integrating the common risk factor approach into a social determinants framework.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2012. 40(4): p. 289-296.
- 63. Jurgensen, N. and P.E. Petersen, *Oral health and the impact of sociobehavioural factors in a cross sectional survey of 12-year old school children in Laos.* BMC Oral Health, 2009. 9: p. 29.
- 64. Blumenshine, S.L., et al., *Children's school performance: Impact of general and oral health.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2008. 68(2): p. 82-87.
- 65. Jackson, S.L., et al., *Impact of poor oral health on children's school attendance and performance.* Am J Public Health, 2011. 101(10): p. 1900-6.
- 66. Agou, S., et al., *Impact of self-esteem on the oral-health-related quality of life of children with malocclusion.* American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 2008. 134(4): p. 484-489.
- 67. Locker, D., *Disparities in oral health-related quality of life in a population of Canadian children.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2007. 35(5): p. 348-356.
- 68. Locker, D., *Self-Esteem and Socioeconomic Disparities in Self-Perceived Oral Health.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2009. 69(1): p. 1-8.
- 69. McGrath, C., et al., *Changes in life quality following third molar surgery--the immediate postoperative period.* Br Dent J, 2003. 194(5): p. 265-8; discussion 261.
- 70. Quinonez, C., R. Figueiredo, and D. Locker, *Disability days in Canada associated with dental problems: a pilot study.* Int J Dent Hyg, 2011. 9(2): p. 132-5.

- Quinonez, C., et al., *Emergency department visits for dental care of nontraumatic origin.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2009. 37(4): p. 366-371.
- 72. Quinonez, C., L. Ieraci, and A. Guttmann, *Potentially preventable hospital use* for dental conditions: implications for expanding dental coverage for low income populations. J Health Care Poor Underserved, 2011. 22(3): p. 1048-58.
- 73. Savage, M.F., et al., *Early preventive dental visits: effects on subsequent utilization and costs.* Pediatrics, 2004. 114(4): p. e418-23.
- 74. Locker, D., *Does dental care improve the oral health of older adults?* Community Dental Health, 2001. 18(1): p. 7-15.
- 75. Yoneyama, T., et al., *Oral care reduces pneumonia in older patients in nursing homes.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2002. 50(3): p. 430-3.
- 76. van der Maarel-Wierink, C.D., et al., *Oral health care and aspiration pneumonia in frail older people: a systematic literature review.* Gerodontology, 2012.
- 77. Simpson, T.C., et al., *Treatment of periodontal disease for glycaemic control in people with diabetes.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2010(5): p. CD004714.
- D'Aiuto, F., D. Ready, and M.S. Tonetti, *Periodontal disease and C-reactive protein-associated cardiovascular risk.* Journal of Periodontal Research, 2004. 39(4): p. 236-241.
- 79. Elter, J.R., et al., *The effects of periodontal therapy on vascular endothelial function: A pilot trial.* American Heart Journal, 2006. 151(1).
- 80. Seinost, G., et al., *Periodontal treatment improves endothelial dysfunction in patients with severe periodontitis.* American Heart Journal, 2005. 149(6): p. 1050-4.
- 81. de Oliveira, C., R. Watt, and M. Hamer, *Toothbrushing, inflammation, and risk of cardiovascular disease: results from Scottish Health Survey.* British Medical Journal, 2010. 340.
- 82. Adachi, M., et al., *Professional oral health care by dental hygienists reduced respiratory infections in elderly persons requiring nursing care.* Int J Dent Hyg, 2007. 5(2): p. 69-74.
- 83. Joshipura, K. and T. Dietrich, *Nutrition and oral health: a two-way relationship.* Handbook of Clinical Nutrition and Aging, 2009: p. 1-16.
- 84. Michalowicz, B.S., et al., *Treatment of periodontal disease and the risk of preterm birth.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2006. 355(18): p. 1885-1894.
- 85. Nicolau, B., et al., A life course approach to assessing causes of dental caries experience: the relationship between biological, behavioural, socio-economic and psychological conditions and caries in adolescents. Caries Research, 2003. 37(5): p. 319-26.

- 86. Noble, J.M., et al., *Periodontitis is associated with cognitive impairment among older adults: analysis of NHANES-III.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2009. 80(11): p. 1206-11.
- 87. Sheiham, A., *Dental caries affects body weight, growth and quality of life in preschool children.* Br Dent J, 2006. 201(10): p. 625-6.
- 88. Benyamini, Y., H. Leventhal, and E.A. Leventhal, *Self-rated oral health as an independent predictor of self-rated general health, self-esteem and life satisfaction.* Social Science & Medicine, 2004. 59(5): p. 1109-1116.
- 89. Bedos, C., A. Levine, and J.M. Brodeur, *How People on Social Assistance Perceive, Experience, and Improve Oral Health.* Journal of Dental Research, 2009. 88(7): p. 653-657.
- 90. Watt, R.G., *From victim blaming to upstream action: tackling the social determinants of oral health inequalities.* Community Dent Oral Epidemiol, 2007. 35(1): p. 1-11.
- 91. McDonagh, M.S., et al., *Systematic review of water fluoridation*. British Medical Journal, 2000. 321(7265): p. 855-859.
- 92. Marinho, V.C., *Evidence-based effectiveness of topical fluorides*. Adv Dent Res, 2008. 20(1): p. 3-7.
- 93. Ahovuo-Saloranta, A., et al., *Pit and fissure sealants for preventing dental decay in the permanent teeth of children and adolescents.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2008(4): p. CD001830.
- 94. Llodra, J.C., et al., *Factors Influencing the Effectiveness of Sealants a Metaanalysis.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 1993. 21(5): p. 261-268.
- 95. Bravo, M., et al., *Sealant and fluoride varnish in caries: a randomized trial.* Journal of Dental Research, 2005. 84(12): p. 1138-1143.
- 96. Truman, B.I., et al., *Reviews of evidence on interventions to prevent dental caries, oral and pharyngeal cancers, and sports-related craniofacial injuries.* American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2002. 23: p. 21-54.
- 97. Griffin, S.O., K. Jones, and S.L. Tomar, *An economic evaluation of community water fluoridation.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2001. 61(2): p. 78-86.
- 98. Hawkins, R., et al., *A comparison of the costs and patient acceptability of professionally applied topical fluoride foam and varnish.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2004. 64(2): p. 106-110.
- 99. Lee, J.Y., et al., *The effects of the Women, Infants, and Children's Supplemental Food Program on dentally related Medicaid expenditures.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2004. 64(2): p. 76-81.
- 100. Lee, J.Y., et al., *Effects of WIC participation on children's use of oral health services.* Am J Public Health, 2004. 94(5): p. 772-7.

- 101. Kinnby, C.G., L. Palm, and J. Widenheim, *Evaluation of information on dental health care at child health centers. Differences in educational level, attitudes, and knowledge among parents of preschool children with different caries experience.* Acta Odontol Scand, 1991. 49(5): p. 289-95.
- 102. Poutanen, R., et al., Oral health-related knowledge, attitudes, behavior, and family characteristics among Finnish schoolchildren with and without active initial caries lesions. Acta Odontol Scand, 2007. 65(2): p. 87-96.
- 103. Mattila, M.L., et al., *Behavioural and demographic factors during early childhood and poor dental health at 10 years of age.* Caries Research, 2005. 39(2): p. 85-91.
- 104. Wendt, L.K., et al., *Analysis of caries-related factors in infants and toddlers living in Sweden.* Acta Odontol Scand, 1996. 54(2): p. 131-7.
- 105. Mattila, M.L., et al., *Will the role of family influence dental caries among sevenyear-old children?* Acta Odontol Scand, 2005. 63(2): p. 73-84.
- 106. Alm, A., et al., Oral hygiene and parent-related factors during early childhood in relation to approximal caries at 15 years of age. Caries Research, 2008. 42(1): p. 28-36.
- 107. Kay, E. and D. Locker, *A systematic review of the effectiveness of health promotion aimed at improving oral health.* Community Dent Health, 1998. 15(3): p. 132-44.
- 108. Kay, E.J. and D. Locker, *Is dental health education effective? A systematic review of current evidence.* Community Dent Oral Epidemiol, 1996. 24(4): p. 231-5.
- 109. Watt, R.G., *Strategies and approaches in oral disease prevention and health promotion.* Bull World Health Organ, 2005. 83(9): p. 711-8.
- 110. Kowash, M.B., et al., *Effectiveness on oral health of a long-term health education programme for mothers with young children.* Br Dent J, 2000. 188(4): p. 201-5.
- 111. Blair, Y., et al., *Dental health of 5-year-olds following community-based oral health promotion in Glasgow, UK.* International Journal of Paediatric Dentistry, 2006. 16(6): p. 388-398.
- 112. Gomez, S. and A. Weber, *Effectiveness of a caries preventive program in pregnant women and new mothers on their offspring.* International Journal of Paediatric Dentistry, 2001. 11(2): p. 117-122.
- 113. Gomez, S.S., et al., *Prolonged effect of a mother-child caries preventive program on dental caries in the permanent 1st molars in 9 to 10-year-old children.* Acta Odontol Scand, 2007. 65(5): p. 271-4.
- 114. Holst, A., I. Martensson, and M. Laurin, *Identification of caries risk children and prevention of caries in pre-school children.* Swed Dent J, 1997. 21(5): p. 185-91.

- 115. Wendt, L.K., et al., *Early dental caries risk assessment and prevention in preschool children: evaluation of a new strategy for dental care in a field study.* Acta Odontol Scand, 2001. 59(5): p. 261-6.
- 116. Pienihakkinen, K. and J. Jokela, *Clinical outcomes of risk-based caries prevention in preschool-aged children.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2002. 30(2): p. 143-150.
- 117. Jokela, J. and K. Pienihakkinen, *Economic evaluation of a risk-based caries prevention program in preschool children.* Acta Odontol Scand, 2003. 61(2): p. 110-4.
- 118. McNally, M.E., et al., *Action Planning for Daily Mouth Care in Long-Term Care: The Brushing Up on Mouth Care Project.* Nursing Research and Practice, 2012. 2012.
- 119. Thorne, S.E., A. Kazanjian, and M.I. MacEntee, *Oral health in long-term care The implications of organizational culture.* Journal of Aging Studies, 2001. 15(3): p. 271-283.
- 120. *Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario. Oral Health: Nursing Assessment and Interventions*, 2008, Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario: Toronto.
- 121. Position Paper on Access to Oral Health Care for Canadians. Canadian Dental Association. 2010; Available from: <u>http://www.cda-</u> <u>adc.ca/ files/position statements/CDA Position Paper Access to Oral Healt</u> <u>h Care for Canadians.pdf</u>.
- 122. Quiñonez, C.R., R. Figueiredo, and D. Locker, *Canadian dentists' opinions on publicly financed dental care.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2009. 69(2): p. 64-73.
- 123. Borchgrevink, A., A. Snyder, and S. Gehshan, *The effects of Medicaid reimbursement rates on access to dental care.* National Academy of State Health Policy (NASHP), March, 2008.
- 124. Hughes, R.J., et al., *Dentists' participation and children's use of services in the Indiana dental Medicaid program and SCHIP: assessing the impact of increased fees and administrative changes.* J Am Dent Assoc, 2005. 136(4): p. 517-23.
- 125. Long, S.K., On the road to universal coverage: Impacts of reform in Massachusetts at one year. Health Affairs, 2008. 27(4): p. W270-W284.
- 126. Somkotra, T. and P. Detsomboonrat, *Is there equity in oral healthcare utilization: experience after achieving Universal Coverage.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2009. 37(1): p. 85-96.
- 127. Gift, H. and R. Andersen, *The principles of organization and models of delivery* of oral health care. Chapter 17 in Pine, C.(Ed) Community Oral Health. (2nd ed). London: Quintessence Publishing Ltd. 2007.
- 128. Steele, J., *NHS dental services in England: An independent review. Department of Health; UK. .* 2009.

- 129. Quinonez, C.R. and D. Locker, *On the pediatric oral health therapist: lessons from Canada.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2008. 68(1): p. 53-6.
- 130. Nash, D.A., et al., *Dental therapists: a global perspective.* Int Dent J, 2008. 58(2): p. 61-70.
- 131. Rees, A.M. and D.K. Jutai, *Management, productivity and cost benefit of graduate dental therapist for years 1975-1979.* Ottawa: Medical Services Branch, Health Canada; 1979, 2008.
- 132. Trueblood, R.G., An analytical model for assessing the costs and benefits of training and utilizing auxiliary health personnel with application to the Canadian dental therapy program. 1992.
- 133. Ambrose, E.R., A. Hord, and W. Simpson, *A quality evaluation of specific dental services provided by the Saskatchewan Dental Plan: final report.* 1976: Saskatchewan Dental Plan.
- 134. Lewis, D., *Performance of the Saskatchewan Health Dental Plan: 1974-1980.* 1981: DW Lewis.
- 135. Worley, D.C., et al., *A comparison of dental restoration outcomes after placement by restorative function auxiliaries versus dentists.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 2012: p. no-no.
- 136. Sheiham, A. and R.G. Watt, *The Common Risk Factor Approach: a rational basis for promoting oral health.* Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 2000. 28(6): p. 399-406.
- 137. Critical Services for Our Children: Integrating Mental and Oral Health Into Primary Care: Grantmakers In Health (GIH). 2008; Available from: http://www.gih.org/usr_doc/issue_brief_30.pdf.
- 138. Nowjack-Raymer, R., *Teamwork in prevention: possibilities and barriers to integrating oral health into general health.* Advances in Dental Research, 1995. 9(2): p. 100-105.
- 139. Haughney, M., et al., *Integration of primary care dental and medical services: a three-year study.* British Dental Journal, 1998. 184(7): p. 343-347.
- 140. Ahluwalia, K.P., et al., *An assessment of oral cancer prevention curricula in US medical schools.* Journal of Cancer Education, 1998. 13(2): p. 90-95.
- 141. Jones, T., M. Siegel, and J. Schneider, *Recognition and management of oral health problems in older adults by physicians: a pilot study.* The Journal of the American Board of Family Practice, 1998. 11(6): p. 474-477.
- 142. Serwint, J., et al., *Child-rearing practices and nursing caries.* Pediatrics, 1993. 92(2): p. 233-237.
- 143. Beltran, E.D., D.M. Malvitz, and S.A. Eklund, *Validity of two methods for assessing oral health status of populations.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 1997. 57(4): p. 206-214.

- 144. Pierce, K.M., R.G. Rozier, and W.F. Vann, *Accuracy of pediatric primary care providers' screening and referral for early childhood caries.* Pediatrics, 2002. 109(5): p. e82.
- 145. Bagramian, R.A., *Combinations of School-Based Primary and Secondary Preventive Dental Programs in the United-States and Other Countries.* Journal of Public Health Dentistry, 1979. 39(4): p. 275-278.
- 146. Bailit, H., T. Beazoglou, and M. Drozdowski, *Financial Feasibility of a Model School-Based Dental Program in Different States.* Public Health Reports, 2008. 123(6): p. 761-767.
- 147. Taylor-Gooby, P., et al., *Knights, knaves and gnashers: professional values and private dentistry.* Journal of Social Policy, 2000. 29(3): p. 375-395.
- 148. Smith, M., et al., *A randomized controlled trial of outreach placement's effect on dental students' clinical confidence.* J Dent Educ, 2006. 70(5): p. 566-70.
- 149. Holtzman, J.S. and H. Seirawan, *Impact of community-based oral health experiences on dental students' attitudes towards caring for the underserved.* J Dent Educ, 2009. 73(3): p. 303-10.
- 150. Lynch, C.D., et al., *Evaluation of a U.K. Community-Based Clinical Teaching/Outreach Program by Former Dental Students Two and Five Years After Graduation.* Journal of Dental Education, 2010. 74(10): p. 1146-1152.